Published for SISSA by 🖄 Springer

RECEIVED: July 5, 2016 REVISED: October 28, 2016 ACCEPTED: November 14, 2016 PUBLISHED: November 28, 2016

# Prompt atmospheric neutrino fluxes: perturbative QCD models and nuclear effects

# Atri Bhattacharya,<sup>a,b</sup> Rikard Enberg,<sup>c</sup> Yu Seon Jeong,<sup>d,e</sup> C.S. Kim,<sup>d</sup> Mary Hall Reno,<sup>f</sup> Ina Sarcevic<sup>a,g</sup> and Anna Stasto<sup>h</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Department of Physics, University of Arizona,
1118 E. 4th St. Tucson, AZ 85704, U.S.A.
<sup>b</sup> Space sciences, Technologies and Astrophysics Research (STAR) Institute,
Université de Liège,
Bât. B5a, 4000 Liège, Belgium
<sup>c</sup> Department of Physics and Astronomy, Uppsala University,
Box 516, SE-75120 Uppsala, Sweden
<sup>d</sup> Department of Physics and IPAP, Yonsei University,
50 Yonsei-ro Seodaemun-gu, Seoul 03722, Korea
<sup>e</sup> National Institute of Supercomputing and Networking, KISTI,
245 Daehak-ro, Yuseong-gu, Daejeon 34141, Korea
<sup>f</sup> Department of Physics and Astronomy, University of Iowa,
Iowa City, Iowa 52242, U.S.A.
<sup>g</sup> Department of Astronomy, University of Arizona,
933 N. Cherry Ave., Tucson, AZ 85721, U.S.A.
<sup>h</sup> Department of Physics, 104 Davey Lab, The Pennsylvania State University,
University Park, PA 16802, U.S.A.
<i>E-mail</i> : a.bhattacharya@ulg.ac.be, rikard.enberg@physics.uu.se,
ysjeong@kisti.re.kr, cskim@yonsei.ac.kr, mary-hall-reno@uiowa.edu

ina@physics.arizona.edu, ams52@psu.edu

ABSTRACT: We evaluate the prompt atmospheric neutrino flux at high energies using three different frameworks for calculating the heavy quark production cross section in QCD: NLO perturbative QCD,  $k_T$  factorization including low-x resummation, and the dipole model including parton saturation. We use QCD parameters, the value for the charm quark mass and the range for the factorization and renormalization scales that provide the best description of the total charm cross section measured at fixed target experiments, at RHIC and at LHC. Using these parameters we calculate differential cross sections for charm and bottom production and compare with the latest data on forward charm meson production from LHCb at 7 TeV and at 13 TeV, finding good agreement with the data. In addition, we



investigate the role of nuclear shadowing by including nuclear parton distribution functions (PDF) for the target air nucleus using two different nuclear PDF schemes. Depending on the scheme used, we find the reduction of the flux due to nuclear effects varies from 10% to 50% at the highest energies. Finally, we compare our results with the IceCube limit on the prompt neutrino flux, which is already providing valuable information about some of the QCD models.

KEYWORDS: Neutrino Physics, Perturbative QCD, Solar and Atmospheric Neutrinos

ARXIV EPRINT: 1607.00193

# Contents

1	Introduction						
<b>2</b>	Heavy quark cross sections						
	2.1	NLO perturbation theory	3				
	2.2	Dipole model	9				
	2.3	$k_T$ factorization	13				
	2.4	QCD predictions for charm and bottom quark total and differential cross					
		section	14				
3	Pro	mpt fluxes	22				
	3.1	Overview	22				
	3.2	Cosmic ray flux, fragmentation and decays	24				
	3.3	Prompt muon neutrino flux	26				
	3.4	Prompt tau neutrino flux	29				
	3.5	Comparison with IceCube limit	31				
<b>4</b>	Dis	cussion and conclusions	32				
	4.1	LHC and IceCube	32				
	4.2	Summary	34				
A	Fra	gmentation	36				
В	Dec	ay distributions	37				
$\mathbf{C}$	Flux tables 40						

# 1 Introduction

Measurements of high-energy extraterrestrial neutrinos by the IceCube Collaboration [1, 2] have heightened interest in other sources of high-energy neutrinos. A background to neutrinos from astrophysical sources are neutrinos produced in high energy cosmic ray interactions with nuclei in the Earth's atmosphere. While pion and kaon production and decay dominate the low energy "conventional" neutrino flux [3–5], short-lived charmed hadron decays to neutrinos dominate the "prompt" neutrino flux [6–14] at high energies. The precise cross-over energy where the prompt flux dominates the conventional flux depends on the zenith angle and is somewhat obscured by the large uncertainties in the prompt flux. The astrophysical flux appears to dominate the atmospheric flux at an energy of  $E_{\nu} \sim 1$ PeV. Atmospheric neutrinos come from hadronic interactions which occur at much higher energy. With the prompt neutrino carrying about a third of the parent charm energy  $E_c$ , which in turn carries about 10% of the incident cosmic ray nucleon energy  $E_{\rm CR}$ , the relevant center of mass energy for the pN collision that produces  $E_{\nu} \sim 1$  PeV is  $\sqrt{s} \sim 7.5$  TeV, making a connection to LHC experiments, e.g., [15, 16].

There are multiple approaches to evaluating the prompt neutrino flux. The standard approach is to use NLO perturbative QCD (pQCD) in the collinear approximation with the integrated parton distribution functions (PDFs) and to evaluate the heavy quark pair production which is dominated by the elementary gluon fusion process [17–19]. Such calculations were performed in [7–9] (see also [6]). Recent work to update these predictions using modern PDFs and models of the incident cosmic ray energy spectrum and composition appears in [11], and including accelerator physics Monte Carlo interfaces, in [12–14]. Using  $x_c = E_c/E_{\rm CR} \sim 0.1$  for charm production, one can show that high energies require gluon PDF with longitudinal momentum fractions  $x_1 \sim x_c$  and  $x_2 \sim 4m_c^2/(x_cs) \ll x_1$ . For a factorization scale  $M_F \sim 0.5-4m_c$ , this leads to large uncertainties. In addition, due to the small x of the gluon PDFs in the target one may need to address the resummation of large logarithms at low x.

In particular, comparisons with LHCb data at 7 TeV [15] were used in ref. [14] to reduce uncertainties in pQCD calculation (see also ref. [20]). Using FONLL [21–24] predictions for the  $p_T$  distribution of charm mesons obtained with different PDFs, they have shown that LHCb data for D mesons and B mesons can reduce the theoretical uncertainty due to the choice of scales to 10% and the uncertainty due to the PDF by as much as a factor of 2 at high energies in the region of large rapidity and small  $p_T$ . Still, the uncertainty due to the low x gluon PDF remains relatively large.

Given the fact that the gluon PDF is probed at very small values of x, it is important to investigate approaches that resum large logarithms  $\ln(1/x)$  and that can incorporate other novel effects in this regime, such as parton saturation. Such effects are naturally incorporated in the so-called dipole model approaches [25–44] and within the  $k_T$  (or high energy) factorization framework [45–48].

There is another major source of uncertainty in the low x region. The target air nuclei have an average nucleon number of  $\langle A \rangle = 14.5$ . Traditionally in the perturbative approach, the nuclear effects are entirely neglected and a linear scaling with A is used for the cross section. Nuclear shadowing effects, however, may be not negligible at very low x and low factorization scale.

In the present paper, we expand our previous work (BERSS) [11] to include nuclear effects in the target and analyze the impact of the low x resummation and saturation effects on the prompt neutrino flux.

We incorporate nuclear effects in the target PDFs by using in our perturbative calculation two different sets of nuclear parton distribution functions: nCTEQ15 [49] and EPS09 [50]. As there is no nuclear data in the relevant energy regime, these nuclear PDFs are largely unconstrained in the low x region (x < 0.01) and there is a substantial uncertainty associated with nuclear effects. Nevertheless, for charm production, the net effect is a suppression of the cross section and the corresponding neutrino flux. At  $E_{\nu} = 10^6 \text{ GeV}$ , the central values of the nCTEQ PDF yields a flux as low as ~ 73% of the flux evaluated with free nucleons in the target, while the corresponding reduction from the EPS09 PDF is at the level of 10%. We also show our results using the dipole approach, with significant theoretical improvements with respect to our previous work (ERS) [10]. These include models of the dipole cross sections that are updated to include more precise experimental data. Furthermore, we calculate the prompt neutrino flux in the  $k_T$  factorization approach, using unintegrated gluon distribution functions with low x resummation and also with saturation effects. We compare these calculations to the dipole and NLO pQCD results.

Overall we find that for all calculations, there is a consistent description of the total charm cross section at high energies, for pp and pN production of  $c\bar{c}$ . We also evaluate the  $b\bar{b}$  cross section and the contribution of beauty hadrons to the atmospheric lepton flux. For each approach we find that our choice for theoretical parameters is in agreement with the latest LHCb data [15, 16] on charm transverse momentum and rapidity distributions in the forward region, and the total cross sections at 7 TeV and at 13 TeV.

In addition to including nuclear and low x effects, we also consider four different cosmic ray fluxes [51–53] and show how the prompt neutrino flux strongly depends on the choice of the primary cosmic ray flux.

The present paper is organized as follows. In the next section we present calculations of the total and differential charm cross section. We present comparisons of all three approaches, pQCD, dipole model and  $k_T$  factorization, and we show the impact of nuclear effects on the total charm cross sections. We show comparisons of our theoretical results with the rapidity distributions measured at LHCb energies. In section 3 we compute neutrino fluxes for muon and tau neutrinos and compare them with the IceCube limit. Finally, in section 4 we state our conclusions. Detailed formulas concerning the fragmentation functions and meson decays are collected in the appendix.

# 2 Heavy quark cross sections

#### 2.1 NLO perturbation theory

We start by expanding our recent work on heavy quark cross section with NLO perturbation theory [11] to constrain QCD parameters by comparison with RHIC and LHC data, and by including nuclear effects. In particular, we shall compare the results of the calculation with the latest LHCb data on forward production of charm mesons [15, 16]. Gauld et al. [13, 14] have evaluated charm forward production to constrain gluon PDFs and to compute the prompt atmospheric lepton flux. Garzelli et al. [12] have recently evaluated the total charm production cross section at NNLO and used the NLO differential charm cross section to evaluate the prompt atmospheric lepton flux. Below, we discuss differences between our approaches to evaluating first charm production, then the prompt fluxes.

We use the HVQ computer program to evaluate the energy distribution of the charm quark at NLO in pQCD [17–19]. The resummation of logarithms associated with large transverse momentum  $p_T$  as incorporated by the FONLL calculation [21–23] is not necessary for this application since the low  $p_T$  kinematic region dominates the cross section.

For heavy quark production, one important parameter is the charm quark mass. In ref. [12], neutrino fluxes were evaluated using NLO QCD on free nucleon targets with  $m_c = 1.40 \text{ GeV}$  taken as the central choice of charm quark mass, based on the pole mass

value of  $m_c = 1.40 \pm 0.15 \,\text{GeV}$ . Values of  $m_c = 1.5 \pm 0.2 \,\text{GeV}$  are used in refs. [13, 14]. In our work, we use the running charm quark mass of  $m_c = 1.27 \,\text{GeV}$ , which is consistent with the average value quoted in [54],  $m_c(m_c) = 1.275 \pm 0.025 \,\text{GeV}$ . A direct translation between the pole mass and running mass is not possible because of poor convergence of the perturbative series, as discussed in, e.g., ref. [55]. By using  $m_c = 1.27 \,\text{GeV}$ , we can make use of the data-constrained analysis of the factorization and renormalization scale dependence discussed in ref. [56].

The mass dependence enters through the renormalization and factorization scale dependence as well as through the kinematic threshold. By keeping the values of the factorization and renormalization scales fixed and only varying the charm mass dependence in the matrix element and phase space integration, one can show that there is a strong dependence on mass at low incident beam energies, but at higher energies, the mass dependence is much weaker. For example, keeping the renormalization and factorization scales fixed at  $M_R = M_F = 2.8 \text{ GeV}$ , the cross section  $\sigma(pp \to c\bar{c}X)$  with  $m_c = 1.27 \text{ GeV}$  is a factor of only 1.26–1.16 larger than the cross section with  $m_c = 1.4 \text{ GeV}$  for incident proton beam energies of  $10^6-10^{10} \text{ GeV}$ . The uncertainties due to the choice of scales are larger than those due to the mass variation. We discuss below the impact of the scale variations on both the cross section and prompt fluxes.

For the NLO pQCD  $b\bar{b}$  contribution to the prompt flux, we use a fixed value of  $m_b = 4.5 \text{ GeV}$  and consider the same range of scale factors as for  $c\bar{c}$  production.

In the perturbative calculation of the heavy quark pair production cross section in cosmic ray interactions with air nuclei with  $\langle A \rangle = 14.5$ , one has to take into account the fact that the nucleons are bound in nuclei, as opposed to free nucleons. Nuclear effects can result in both suppression and enhancement of the nuclear parton distribution functions (nPDF) relative to the free nucleon PDF, depending on the kinematic variables (x, Q). The extraction of nPDF at NLO has been done by several groups, among them Eskola, Paukkunen and Salgado (EPS09) [50] and Kovarik et al. (nCTEQ15) [49]. The nuclear PDFs in the EPS framework [50] are defined by a nuclear modification factor multiplying the free proton PDFs. For example, the up quark PDF for the quark in a proton bound in nucleus A is

$$u_A(x,Q) = R_u^A(x,Q) \, u_p(x,Q) \,, \tag{2.1}$$

where  $R_u^A(x, Q)$  is the nuclear modification factor to the free proton PDF. For our calculations, we use the central CT14 NLO [57] PDF for free protons and to approximate nitrogen targets, the EPS09 NLO results for oxygen. The recent nCTEQ15 PDF sets [49] instead provide directly the parton distribution functions for partons in protons bound in the nucleus, e.g.,  $u_A(x, Q)$ . As usual, one uses isospin symmetry to account for neutrons bound in nuclei. For the calculation in this work we take as our standard free proton PDFs those of [49], labeled here as nCTEQ15-01, and PDFs for nucleons in nitrogen, labeled here as nCTEQ15-14.

In figures 1 and 2 we show the impact of nuclear modification on the gluon distribution in the small x region using nCTEQ15 and EPS PDFs respectively. In the standard distribution of the nCTEQ15 grids, low x extrapolations must be used to avoid the un-



Figure 1. The gluon distribution functions for free protons (upper, magenta) and isoscalar nucleons bound in nitrogen (lower, blue) in the nCTEQ15 PDF sets [49] with  $Q = 2m_c$ . The standard distribution of the PDF sets are shown with dashed lines. Small-*x* extrapolations with  $xg(x,Q) \sim x^{-\lambda(Q)}$  for  $x < 10^{-6.5}$  are shown with dotted lines. The solid lines show PDFs with grids extended to treat the small-*x* regime [58], with a shaded band to show the range of predictions for the 32 sets for nitrogen, likely an underestimate of the uncertainty since the fits were made for x > 0.01.

physical behavior shown by the dashed lines in figure 1. The dotted lines show a power law extrapolation  $xg(x,Q) \sim x^{-\lambda(Q)}$  below  $x_{\min} = 10^{-6.5}$ . The solid lines in figure 1 show the nCTEQ15 results with grids extended to low x [58]. The shaded band shows the range of nuclear PDF uncertainties in the 32 sets provided. We use the corresponding lower and upper curves (sets 27 and 28) to quantify the nuclear PDF uncertainty, which is likely underestimating the uncertainty given the lack of data in this kinematic regime. Similarly, for the EPS09 gluon distribution in figure 2, we also show the uncertainty band, which is now computed as the maximal deviation from the central band due to a combination of uncertainties from the 57 different members of the base proton CT14NLO PDF set and those from the different members of EPS09 modification factors themselves. As a result of incorporating PDF uncertainties from both the proton PDF and nuclear modification factors, the net uncertainty bands at low x in results obtained using the EPS09 scheme are generally larger than those from the nCTEQ15 PDF's. Overall, we find that within the nuclear PDF sets used here, the uncertainty is rather modest, which is due to the constraints stemming from the parametrization. We note that the real uncertainty for the nuclear PDFs can be much larger in the low x region.<sup>1</sup>

Depending on the observable, the nuclear effects in the nCTEQ15 and EPS09 frameworks can be sizeable. For the total cross section, the dominant contribution comes from

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Set number 55 from the CT14NLO PDF leads to total cross-sections that significantly exceed experimental upper limits from ALICE and LHCb results at  $\sqrt{s} = 7$  TeV, even when using our central values of the factorization and renormalization scales. Consequently, it has been excluded when computing the uncertainty bands throughout this work.



Figure 2. The gluon distribution functions for free protons and isoscalar nucleons bound in nitrogen in the EPS09 sets [50] with  $Q = 2m_c$  with CT14 PDFs [57]. The uncertainty band (blue shaded) around the central nuclear gluon distribution is obtained by combining the maximal uncertainties from the proton CT14NLO PDFs sets and those from the different EPS09 nuclear modification factors. Set 55 of CT14NLO PDFs is not included here.

the symmetric configuration of partons' longitudinal momenta, i.e.,  $x_{1,2} \sim 2m_c/\sqrt{s}$ . On the other hand, the differential distribution in outgoing charm energy fraction  $x_c = E_c/E_{\rm CR}$ , for the forward production is dominated by asymmetric configurations  $x_c \sim x_1 \gg x_2$ , and thus probes deeper into the shadowing region of the target nucleus. We will show below that the impact of shadowing on the total charm cross section is less significant than it is on the neutrino flux, which is dominated by the forward charm production.

In table 1, we show the cross sections  $\sigma(pp \to c\bar{c}X)$  and  $\sigma(pA \to c\bar{c}X)/A$  using the nCTEQ15 PDFs for our central set of factorization and renormalization scale factors  $(N_F, N_R) = (2.1, 1.6)$  such that  $(M_F, M_R) = (N_F, N_R)m_T$  and  $(M_F, M_R) = (N_F, N_R)m_c$ . Here,  $m_T$  is the transverse mass,  $m_T^2 = p_T^2 + m_c^2$ . For an incident beam energy  $E_p =$  $10^6 \text{ GeV}, \sigma(M_{F,R} \propto m_c)$  is larger than  $\sigma(M_{F,R} \propto m_T)$  by a factor of 1.16–1.17, while at  $10^8 \text{ GeV}$ , the cross sections are nearly equal. These choices of factorization and renormalization scales proportional to  $m_c$  are the central values constrained by the data in an analysis using NLO pQCD charm cross section calculation in ref. [56] and used in ref. [11]. As noted, we find similar results for the cross sections for scales proportional to  $m_T$ . Scale variations of  $(M_F, M_R) = (1.25, 1.48)m_T$  and  $(M_F, M_R) = (4.65, 1.71)m_T$ bracket the results of ref. [56], and we use this range here as well. While the total cross section requires extrapolations of the fiducial to inclusive phase space for data comparisons with theory, we show below that our choices of scales are consistent with forward charm measurements at LHCb.

F	$\sigma(pp \to c$	$\bar{c}X)$ [µb]	$\sigma(pA \to c\bar{c}X)/A \ [\mu b] \qquad \qquad [\sigma_{pA}/A],$			$]/[\sigma_{pp}]$
$L_p$	$M_{F,R} \propto m_T$	$M_{F,R} \propto m_c$	$M_{F,R} \propto m_T$	$M_{F,R} \propto m_c$	$M_{F,R} \propto m_T$	$M_{F,R} \propto m_c$
$10^{2}$	1.51	1.87	1.64	1.99	1.09	1.06
$10^{3}$	$3.84 \times 10^1$	$4.72 \times 10^1$	$4.03 \times 10^1$	$4.92 \times 10^1$	1.05	1.04
$10^{4}$	$2.52 \times 10^2$	$3.06 \times 10^2$	$2.52 \times 10^2$	$3.03 \times 10^2$	1.00	0.99
$10^{5}$	$8.58  imes 10^2$	$1.03 \times 10^3$	$8.22 \times 10^2$	$9.77 \times 10^2$	0.96	0.95
$10^{6}$	$2.25  imes 10^3$	$2.63 \times 10^3$	$2.10  imes 10^3$	$2.43 \times 10^3$	0.93	0.92
107	$5.36  imes 10^3$	$5.92 \times 10^3$	$4.90 \times 10^3$	$5.35 \times 10^3$	0.91	0.90
$10^{8}$	$1.21 \times 10^4$	$1.23\times 10^4$	$1.08 \times 10^4$	$1.09 \times 10^4$	0.89	0.89
109	$2.67  imes 10^4$	$2.44 \times 10^4$	$2.35  imes 10^4$	$2.11 \times 10^4$	0.88	0.86
10 <sup>10</sup>	$5.66  imes 10^4$	$4.67 \times 10^4$	$4.94 \times 10^4$	$3.91 \times 10^4$	0.87	0.84

Table 1. The NLO pQCD total cross section per nucleon  $[\mu b]$  for charm pair production as a function of incident energy [GeV] for scale factors  $(N_F, N_R) = (2.1, 1.6)$  (the central values for charm production) for protons incident on isoscalar nucleons. The PDFs are for free nucleons (nCTEQ15-01) and the target nucleons bound in nitrogen (nCTEQ15-14) using the low-x grids. For these calculation, we use  $\Lambda_{\rm QCD} = 226 \,{\rm MeV}, N_F = 3$  and  $m_c = 1.27 \,{\rm GeV}$ .

The total charm and bottom cross sections per nucleon in pp and pA collisions as functions of incident proton energy are shown in the left panel of figure 3 for nCTEQ15 PDFs for free nucleons (dashed-magenta curves) and for the case when nucleons are bound in nitrogen (solid blue curves). The range of curves reflects the uncertainty in the cross section due to the scale dependence. The dependence of the cross section on the nuclear PDFs is on the order of a few percent at the highest energies when one uses the 32 sets of nCTEQ15-14 PDFs. The right panel of figure 3 shows with the solid blue curve the total charm cross section per nucleon,  $\sigma(pA \to c\bar{c}X)/A$ , for nitrogen with the EPS09 nuclear modification factor. For each fixed set of scales, the maximal deviation from the central cross-section due to uncertainties from the different members of EPS09 and CT14NLO PDFSets is at the level of 30% at energies of  $10^{10}$  GeV. The cross section with nitrogen (per nucleon) falls within the data constrained QCD scale uncertainties (shaded blue area) evaluated for the isoscalar nucleon cross sections in ref. [11]. In figure 3, we vary the factorization scale from  $M_F = 1.25m_c$  to  $4.65m_c$  and the renormalization scale from  $M_R = 1.48m_c$  to  $1.71m_c$ . The data points for the total charm cross section in proton-proton collisions at RHIC and LHC energies in the figures are from [15, 59-68], while the lower energy data are from a compilation of fixed target data in [69].

The nCTEQ15-01 free nucleon sets yield slightly larger isoscalar nucleon cross section for charm production than the CT10 evaluation of BERSS [11] which are shown by the black dotted lines in figure 3. The nuclear corrections to the CTEQ15-01 set decrease the cross section relative to the BERSS evaluation using CT10, with a net decrease relative to CT10 of 10% at the highest energies, where the differences in the small x distribution



Figure 3. Left: energy dependence of the total nucleon-nucleon charm and bottom cross section obtained in NLO pQCD approach using the nCTEQ15-01 PDFs for protons incident on a free proton target (dashed red curves) and nCTEQ15-14 for an isoscalar nucleon target bound in nitrogen (solid blue curves). The central curves are for  $(M_F, M_R) = (2.1, 1.6)m_Q$ , while the upper and lower curves are for scaling with factors of (1.25, 1.48) and (4.65, 1.71) correspondingly. The dashed black curve is the BERSS result [11]. The data points for the total charm cross section from ppcollisions at RHIC and LHC energies are from refs. [15, 59–68], while the lower energy data are from a compilation of fixed target data in ref. [69]. Right: energy dependence of the charm and bottom total cross section in nucleon-nucleon collision obtained in NLO pQCD approach using NLO CT14 PDFs and the EPS09 NLO nuclear modification factor  $R_i^A$  (solid blue curve) [50] and  $(M_F, M_R) = (2.1, 1.6)m_Q$ . The upper and lower curves correspond to the same variation of the factorization and renormalization scales as in the left panel.

of the PDFs are most important. The EPS09 parametrizations incorporate less nuclear shadowing at small x than the nCTEQ15 nuclear corrected PDFs.

Figure 4 shows the cross section ratio for  $(\sigma(pA \to Q\bar{Q}X)/A)/\sigma(pN \to Q\bar{Q}X))$  for Q = c (solid lines) and Q = b (dashed lines) for isoscalar target N and A = 14. The ratio of the cross section per nucleon for partons in nitrogen and free nucleons for  $(M_F, M_R) = (2.1, 1.6)m_c$  using nCTEQ15 PDFs are shown in blue curves in figure 4, and for EPS09 with CT14 free proton PDFs using the magenta curves. At low energies, where the cross section is quite small due to threshold effects, the anti-shadowing dominates, however for the energy range of interest, shadowing is more important, resulting in a 20% (10%) decrease in the cross section at high energies for  $c\bar{c}$  production with the nCTEQ15 (EPS09) PDF. For  $b\bar{b}$  production, the cross section is decreased by ~ 6%–10% at  $E = 10^{10}$  GeV depending on the choice of nuclear PDF.

So far, we have considered calculations based on the standard integrated parton distribution functions and the collinear framework. However as discussed above, neutrino production at high energy probes the region of very small values of x of the gluon distribution, which is not very well constrained at present. The standard DGLAP evolution, which is based on the resummation of large logarithms of scale, does not provide constraints on the small x region. Therefore, it is worthwhile to explore other approaches which resum the potentially large logarithms  $\alpha_s \ln 1/x$ . There are two approaches at present, the dipole model and the  $k_T$  factorization. The dipole model [25–31, 34, 35, 37–44] is particularly



Figure 4. The ratio of the NLO pQCD charm (solid curves) and bottom (dashed curves) total cross sections per nucleon with partons in nitrogen and partons in free nucleons for nCTEQ15 (red curves) and for the EPS09 (blue curves) nuclear modifications to the CT14 PDFs. Here, the factorization and renormalization scales are set to be  $(M_F, M_R) = (2.1, 1.6)m_Q$  for  $m_c = 1.27$  GeV and  $m_b = 4.5$  GeV.

convenient for including corrections due to parton saturation. Parton saturation in this approach is taken into account as multiple rescatterings of the dipole as it passes through the nucleus. The dynamics is encoded in the dipole cross section, which can be either parametrized or obtained from the nonlinear evolution equation. Below we shall explore improvements to the previous calculation based on the dipole model [10], which include using more modern parametrizations for the dipole scattering cross section. Another approach to evaluating the prompt neutrino flux is based on  $k_T$  factorization [45–48]. In this approach the dynamics of the gluon evolution is encoded in the unintegrated parton densities, which include information about the transverse momentum dependence of the gluons in addition to the longitudinal components. We shall be using the unified BFKL-DGLAP evolution approach, with nonlinear effects, to compute the evolution of the unintegrated PDFs, which should provide for a reliable dynamical extrapolation of the gluon density towards the small x regime.

# 2.2 Dipole model

The color dipole model [25–27, 32, 33, 36] is an alternative approach to evaluating the heavy quark pair production cross section. The advantage of this framework is that gluon saturation at small x can be included in a relatively straightforward way, as a unitarization of the dipole-proton scattering amplitude. The partonic interaction cross section of the gluon with the target can be described in the regime of high energy by a two-step process. First, a gluon fluctuation into a  $q\bar{q}$  pair is accounted by a wave function squared, then this dipole interacts with the target with a dipole cross section. In this framework, the partonic

cross section for  $q\bar{q}$  production can be written as [25]

$$\sigma^{gp \to q\bar{q}X}(x, M_R, Q^2) = \int dz \, d^2 \vec{r} \, |\Psi_g^q(z, \vec{r}, M_R, Q^2)|^2 \sigma_d(x, \vec{r}) \,, \tag{2.2}$$

for gluon momentum squared  $Q^2$  and renormalization scale  $M_R$ . The wave function squared, for pair separation  $\vec{r}$  and fractional momentum z for q = c and q = b, is

$$|\Psi_g^q(z,\vec{r},M_R,Q^2=0)|^2 = \frac{\alpha_s(M_R)}{(2\pi)^2} \left[ \left( z^2 + (1-z)^2 \right) m_q^2 K_1^2(m_q r) + m_q^2 K_0^2(m_q r) \right], \quad (2.3)$$

in terms of the modified Bessel functions  $K_0$  and  $K_1$ . The dipole cross section  $\sigma_d$  can be written in terms of the color singlet dipole  $\sigma_{d,em}$  applicable to electromagnetic scattering [27, 32]

$$\sigma_d(x, \vec{r}) = \frac{9}{8} \left[ \sigma_{d,em}(x, z\vec{r}) + \sigma_{d,em}(x, (1-z)\vec{r}) \right] - \frac{1}{8} \sigma_{d,em}(x, \vec{r}) \,. \tag{2.4}$$

Using eqs. (2.3), (2.4) in the expression given by eq. (2.2), the heavy quark rapidity distribution in proton-proton scattering is given by [10]

$$\frac{d\sigma(pp \to q\bar{q}X)}{dy} \simeq x_1 g(x_1, M_F) \sigma^{gp \to q\bar{q}X}(x_2, M_R, Q^2 = 0), \qquad (2.5)$$

where we use

$$x_{1,2} = \frac{2m_q}{\sqrt{s}} e^{\pm y} \,. \tag{2.6}$$

Similarly, the Feynman  $x_F$  distribution in the dipole model is given by [10],

$$\frac{d\sigma(pp \to q\bar{q}X)}{dx_F} \simeq \frac{x_1}{\sqrt{x_F^2 + \frac{4M_{q\bar{q}}^2}{s}}} g(x_1, M_F) \sigma^{gp \to q\bar{q}X}(x_2, M_R, Q^2 = 0), \qquad (2.7)$$

in terms of the  $q\bar{q}$  invariant mass squared  $M_{q\bar{q}}^2$  and center of mass energy squared s. A LO gluon PDF is used for the value of large  $x_1$ , while the dipole cross section encodes the information about the small x dynamics of the target, including the saturation effects.

In ref. [10], the dipole cross section parametrized by Soyez [37] was used to evaluate the prompt atmospheric lepton flux. This parametrization was based on the form discussed by Iancu, Itakura and Munier [35] which approximated the solution to the nonlinear Balitsky-Kovchegov (BK) [70, 71] evolution equation. In the present calculation we use updated PDFs and dipole model parametrizations. In the flux evaluations and comparisons with LHCb data, we have updated the fragmentation fractions (see appendices) compared to earlier work [10]. For  $g(x_1, M_F)$ , we use the CT14 LO PDF [57]. There has been significant progress in the extractions of the dipole scattering amplitudes by including the running coupling constant (rcBK), and now, more recently, full NLO corrections to the BK equation. Here, we use Albacete et al.'s AAMQS dipole cross section result that includes heavy quarks in the rcBK formalism [39] which has been fitted to the inclusive HERA data. We compare the cross section and flux calculations using this parametrization with the calculations based on the dipole cross section by Soyez.



Figure 5. The  $q\bar{q}$  production cross section in pp collisions from the dipole model for q = c and q = b. The cross sections use the following charm quark and bottom quark mass, Soyez model:  $m_c = 1.4 \text{ GeV}, m_b = 4.5 \text{ GeV}$ ; Block and AAMQS models:  $m_c = 1.27 \text{ GeV}, m_b = 4.2 \text{ GeV}$  and fixed values of  $\alpha_s$ :  $\alpha_s = 0.373$  for charm,  $\alpha_s = 0.215$  for bottom quark production. The cross section is evaluated using the CT14 LO PDFs with a range of factorization scales  $M_F = m_c$  to  $4m_c$ . We also show the experimental data and BERSS results, as in figure 3.

Finally, we use a third dipole model that is phenomenologically based. Starting from a parametrization of the electromagnetic structure function  $F_2(x, Q^2)$  guided by unitarity considerations by Block et al. [44], one can show that the dipole cross section for electromagnetic scattering is approximately

$$\sigma_{d,em}(x,r) \simeq \pi^3 r^2 Q^2 \frac{\partial F_2}{\partial Q^2} \Big|_{Q^2 = (z_0/r)^2},$$
(2.8)

for  $z_0 \simeq 2.4$  [42, 43]. We refer to this approximate form with the parametrization of  $F_2$  from ref. [44] as the "Block dipole." This dipole cross section does well in describing electromagnetic, weak interaction and hadronic cross sections [72], and yields a flux similar to the AAMQS and Soyez calculations.

Figure 5 shows the cross sections for charm and bottom pair production from pp interactions calculated from the various dipole models introduced above with the gluon factorization scale varied between  $m_c$  and  $4m_c$ . While all the  $c\bar{c}$  cross sections are comparable at  $E \gtrsim 10^6$  GeV, for the  $b\bar{b}$  cross sections, there is a difference by a factor of 1.8 (1.6) at  $E = 10^6 (10^8)$  GeV between the Soyez (lowest) and the AAMQS (highest) results.

The dipole cross section is applicable for  $x_2 \ll 1$ . The AAMQS dipole cross section is provided for x < 0.008. The unphysical sharp increase as a function of energy for the AAMQS result near  $E = 10^3 \text{ GeV}$  is an artifact of this cutoff in x. We checked that this default  $x_{\text{max}}$  of AAMQS has no important effect for  $E > 10^6 \text{ GeV}$ , relevant energies where the prompt fluxes are dominant. As in previous work [10], we fix  $\alpha_s$  at  $\alpha_s = 0.373$  for charm and  $\alpha_s = 0.215$  for bottom quark production. These values of  $\alpha_s$  come from taking  $M_R \sim m_q$ . We take a central factorization scale equal to  $M_F = 2m_q$ . These choices give reasonable cross sections as figure 5 shows. In this approach, the cross section scales linearly with  $\alpha_s$ . Within the constraints of the cross section measurements and other experimental results, e.g., LHCb,  $\alpha_s$  can be varied with different renormalization scales. Rather than make this scale variation, we keep  $\alpha_s$  fixed for all the dipole model calculations presented here.

The comparison shown in figure 5 of the total charm and total bottom cross sections in pp collisions shows good agreement with the data at high energies. However, at low energies dipole models underestimate the cross section because of the aforementioned limitation of  $x_{\text{max}}$ , and the fact that quark and anti-quark contributions to the cross section are not included in this model. At high energies, initial state gluons dominate, while at low energies, this is not the case.

Nuclear effects can be incorporated in the dipole model by modifying the saturation scale. This approach, as discussed by Armesto, Salgado and Wiedemann (ASW) [73], involves a relative scaling of the free proton saturation scale by an A dependent ratio  $(AR_p^2/R_A^2)^{1/\delta}$  where the power  $\delta = 0.79$  is a phenomenological fit to  $\gamma^* A$  data [73] and  $R_A = 1.12 A^{1/3} - 0.86/A^{1/3}$  fm is the nuclear radius and  $R_p$  is the proton radius. This method is used in ref. [10], where the Soyez dipole cross section is described in terms of the saturation scale which depends on r and x, however, the ASW approach cannot be used if the dipole is not parametrized in terms of a saturation scale. The method used here is the Glauber-Gribov formalism, where

$$\sigma_d^A(x,r) = \int d^2 \vec{b} \,\sigma_d^A(x,r,b)\,, \qquad (2.9)$$

$$\sigma_d^A(x,r,b) = 2\left[1 - \exp\left(-\frac{1}{2}AT_A(b)\sigma_d^p(x,r)\right)\right].$$
(2.10)

The nuclear profile function  $T_A(b)$  depends on the nuclear density  $\rho_A$  and is normalized to unity:

$$T_A(b) = \int dz \rho_A(z, \vec{b}), \qquad (2.11)$$

$$\int d^2 \vec{b} \, T_A(b) = 1 \,. \tag{2.12}$$

We use a Gaussian distribution for nuclear density,

$$\rho_A(z,b) = \frac{1}{\pi^{3/2} a^3} e^{-r^2/a^2} \quad \text{for } r^2 = z^2 + \vec{b}^2 \,, \tag{2.13}$$

with  $a^2 = 2R_A^2/3$ . This agrees well with a three parameter Fermi fit [74], used in other studies [75, 76].

The nuclear corrections in the dipole model are smaller than in the NLO pQCD approach with nCTEQ15-14 PDFs, however, they are similar to the EPS09 nuclear corrections. For the Block dipole model nuclear effects range from 1% at  $10^3$  GeV to about 88%

at  $10^{10}$  GeV, while for the AAMQS at  $10^{10}$  GeV it is 93%, and for the Soyez dipole model it is approximately 90%. The nuclear corrected cross sections for charm and bottom pair production are presented in figure 7 with the cross sections from other approaches.

# 2.3 $k_T$ factorization

In this subsection we discuss the calculation of the heavy-quark production cross section using the approach of  $k_T$  factorization. As mentioned previously, since the kinematics of the process is such that the dominant contribution to the neutrino flux comes from forward production of the heavy quark, the values of the longitudinal momenta of partons in this process are highly asymmetric. The longitudinal momentum fraction x of the parton participating in this process from the target side (the air nucleus) is very small, and hence one needs to extrapolate the parton densities beyond the region in which they are currently constrained by experimental data. On the other hand, we know that in the regime of small x and relatively low scales, one should take into account potentially large logarithms  $\alpha_s \ln 1/x$ . Such contributions are resummed in the framework of  $k_T$  factorization and BFKL evolution [77–80]. The  $k_T$  factorization approach to heavy quark production in hadron-hadron collisions has been formulated in [45, 46]. The framework involves matrix elements for the  $qq \rightarrow Q\bar{Q}$  process with off-shell incoming gluons. For the forward kinematics relevant here, we shall be using an approximation in which the large x parton from the incoming cosmic ray particle is on-shell and the low x parton from the target is off-shell. This is referred to as the hybrid formalism, in which on one side the integrated collinear parton density is used, and on the other side the unintegrated gluon density with explicit  $k_T$  dependence is used (for a recent calculation in the color glass condensate framework of the hybrid factorization see [81]). The  $k_T$  factorization formula for the single inclusive heavy quark production with one off-shell gluon reads

$$\frac{d\sigma}{dx_F}(s, m_Q^2) = \int \frac{dx_1}{x_1} \frac{dx_2}{x_2} dz \delta(zx_1 - x_F) x_1 g(x_1, M_F) \int \frac{dk_T^2}{k_T^2} \hat{\sigma}^{\text{off}}(z, \hat{s}, k_T) f(x_2, k_T^2) \,. \tag{2.14}$$

In the above formula,  $x_F$  is the Feynman variable for the produced heavy quark,  $x_1g(x_1, M_F)$  is the integrated gluon density on the projectile side,  $\hat{\sigma}^{\text{off}}(z, \hat{s}, k_T)$  is the partonic cross section for the process  $gg^* \to Q\bar{Q}$ , where  $g^*$  is the off-shell gluon on the target side, and  $f(x_2, k_T^2)$  is the unintegrated gluon density. For the unintegrated gluon density, we have used the resummed version of the BFKL evolution which includes important subleading effects due to DGLAP evolution and the kinematical constraint [82–84]. These terms are relevant since they correspond to the resummation of subleading terms in the small x expansion. As a result, the calculation with resummation should be more reliable than the calculation based on purely LL or NLL small x terms. We have used the latest fits, where the unintegrated parton density has been fitted to high precision experimental data on deep inelastic scattering from HERA [85]. In addition, we have considered two cases, with or without parton saturation effects included for  $\sigma_{c\bar{c}}$  and  $\sigma_{b\bar{b}}$ , shown in figure 6. Parton saturation was included through a nonlinear term in the parton density in the evolution [83–85]. Both calculations of the total integrated charm cross section, as compared with the BERSS calculation, are consistent with the perturbative calculation for



Figure 6. The integrated charm cross section in pp collisions from  $k_T$  factorization, using the unintegrated gluon from linear evolution from resummed BFKL (solid blue, upper curve), and non-linear evolution (dashed magenta, lower curve). Both calculations were based on the unintegrated gluon PDFs taken from [85]. Shown for comparison is the perturbative cross section from ref. [11] (black short-dashed curve) and data points as in figure 3.

high energies  $\geq 10^4$  GeV. The calculation without parton saturation effects is higher than with saturation. At low energies, the calculation within  $k_T$  factorization tends to be below the NLO perturbative calculation within the collinear framework. This is understandable as the  $k_T$  factorization can be thought of as a higher order computation with respect to the LO collinear framework, but only in the region of high energies. At low energies the  $\ln 1/x$  resummation is not effective anymore, and  $k_T$  factorization becomes closer to the LO collinear calculation. In order to match to NLO collinear in this region one would need to include other NLO effects in the calculation or supplement the  $k_T$  factorization calculation with the energy dependent K factor.

We also analyzed the impact of nuclear corrections in the  $k_T$  factorization approach. The nuclear effects in this approach are encoded in the unintegrated gluon parton density through the nonlinear term in the evolution equation as described in [85]. The strength of the nonlinear term in the nuclear case is enhanced by the factor  $A^{1/3}$  with respect to the proton case.

# 2.4 QCD predictions for charm and bottom quark total and differential cross section

In figure 7, we show results for the energy dependence of the total charm and bottom cross sections obtained using the three different QCD models: perturbative, dipole and  $k_T$  factorization (linear evolution, nonlinear evolution). For comparison we also show our calculation based on  $k_T$  factorization with nuclear effects included. We find good agreement with the experimental data with all models for LHC energies. However, at lower energies only the



Figure 7. Total  $c\bar{c}$  and  $b\bar{b}$  cross sections as a function of the incident proton energy. The different curves correspond to: NLO perturbative (solid blue) obtained with nCTEQ15 parton distributions, dipole model calculation based on the Block parametrization (dashed-magenta),  $k_T$  factorization with unintegrated PDF from linear evolution (dashed-dotted green),  $k_T$  factorization with unintegrated PDF from non-linear evolution for nucleon (short-dashed violet) and  $k_T$  factorization with unintegrated PDF from non-linear evolution for nitrogen (dashed orange). Comparison is made with the results from previous NLO calculation, denoted by BERSS (short-dashed black curve), ref. [11] and data points as in figure 3.

perturbative NLO approach gives a good agreement with the data. In the calculation of the prompt neutrino flux, the higher energy cross sections are relevant. In order to evaluate the neutrino flux, one needs to convolute the differential cross section for charm production with the steeply falling (with energy) cosmic ray flux. This evaluation is sensitive to charm production in the forward region. The differential charm quark distributions are different for different QCD models, some being in better agreement with the data than others, as we discuss below.

Similar to the procedure in refs. [12] and [14], we constrain our QCD parameters by comparing our results for charm production in pp collisions with LHCb measurements in the forward region at  $\sqrt{s} = 7 \text{ TeV}$  and  $\sqrt{s} = 13 \text{ TeV}$ . In refs. [15, 16], the charm cross section has been measured by the LHCb experiment in the rapidity range  $2.0 \le y \le 4.5$ and for the charmed hadron transverse momentum  $p_T \le 8 \text{ GeV}$ . In table 2, we show the experimental values for the total charm cross section measured by the LHCb collaboration compared with our theoretical calculations. The experimental results from LHCb [15, 16] for the charm cross section are obtained by taking their measured values of, for example,  $D^0$  and its charge conjugate, and dividing by two times the fragmentation fraction for  $c \to D^0$  to account for the inclusion of the charge conjugate state in the measurement. Fragmentation functions do not appreciably change the rapidity distributions at fixed  $\sqrt{s}$ . The theoretical calculations using NLO perturbative QCD and nCTEQ15-01 PDFs were performed with  $(N_F, N_R) = (2.1, 1.6)$  scaling  $m_T$  and  $m_c$  for the central values, with con-

. / 6	$\sigma(pp \to c\bar{c}X) \ [\mu b]$						
	NLO $(\mu \propto m_T)$	NLO $(\mu \propto m_c)$	DM	$k_T$	Experiment		
$7\mathrm{TeV}$	$1610^{+480}_{-620}$	$1730_{-1020}^{+900}$	$1619^{+726}_{-705}$	$1347 \div 1961$	$1419 \pm 134$		
$13\mathrm{TeV}$	$2410^{+700}_{-960}$	$2460^{+1440}_{-1560}$	$2395^{+1276}_{-1176}$	$2191 \div 3722$	$2940\pm241$		

**Table 2.** The total cross section for  $pp \to c\bar{c}X$  for the rapidity range limited to  $2 \le y \le 4.5$ . In the NLO pQCD evaluation, we take  $p_T \le 8 \text{ GeV}$  and we use scales,  $(M_F, M_R) = (2.1, 1.6)m_T$  and  $(M_F, M_R) = (2.1, 1.6)m_c$ , with error bars according to upper and lower scales. The dipole model result shows the central value with the uncertainty band obtained by varying the factorization scale between  $M_F = m_c$  and  $M_F = 4m_c$ . The values of  $\alpha_s$  in dipole models are held fixed. Also shown are the ranges for cross sections in the  $k_T$ -factorization approach, where the lower band is given by non-linear calculation and upper by the linear. The experimental data are from LHCb measurements [15, 16].

straining the charm rapidity and transverse momentum to correspond to the experimental kinematic restrictions, scaled by fragmentation fractions. The theoretical uncertainty band corresponds to the scale variation in the range of  $(N_F, N_R) = (4.65, 1.71)$  (upper limit) and  $(N_F, N_R) = (1.25, 1.48)$  (lower limit). The NLO pQCD results using nCTEQ15-01 are listed in the first two columns in table 2.

We also show the calculation using the dipole model (DM) and  $k_T$  factorization. The dipole model uncertainty band comes from the three different dipole models and the scale variation in the gluon PDF from  $M_F = m_c$  to  $M_F = 4m_c$ . For the central values, we take the average of the cross sections for all the models considered, with  $M_F = 2m_c$ . The upper limit of the uncertainty band corresponds to the Block dipole with  $M_F = 4m_c$  while the lower one is the Soyez dipole with  $M_F = 1m_c$ . Our results which include theoretical uncertainties are in agreement with the LHCb rapidity distributions at 7 TeV and at 13 TeV.

In refs. [15, 16], data are presented for transverse momentum and rapidity distributions. Imposing a cut on transverse momentum,  $p_T < 8 \text{ GeV}$  where possible (see below), we show  $d\sigma/dy$  for  $2 \leq y \leq 4.5$  evaluated using perturbative NLO, dipole model and  $k_T$  factorization. We also show the transverse momentum distributions in rapidity ranges y = 2-2.5, y = 3-3.5 (scaled by  $10^{-2}$ ) and y = 4-4.5 (scaled by  $10^{-4}$ ) where possible. All the calculations were performed by computing the differential distribution of charm quarks, multiplied by the fragmentation fraction for  $c \to D^0$ , and finally a factor of two was included to account for antiparticles. The results are shown in figures 8, 9, 10 respectively. The highest rapidity bin from LHCb does not include the  $p_T$  to 8 GeV, but the distribution falls off rapidly. The dipole model already includes the full  $p_T$  range, but again, the steep distribution in  $p_T$  means the dipole result is a good approximation.

In figure 8 we show NLO differential distributions of charm pairs evaluated using the free proton nCTEQ15-01 PDFs. The blue shaded band shows the prediction for the range of scales proportional to  $m_T$ , while the dashed magenta lines show the predictions for the scale dependence proportional to  $m_c$ , the scale range taken to be the same as in figure 3. The  $m_T$  range used in our flux evaluations is consistent with the LHCb results, as is the very large range coming from  $m_c$  dependent scales. Based on this comparison, in our



Figure 8. Rapidity distributions for  $pp \to D^0/\bar{D}^0 X$  at  $\sqrt{s} = 7 \text{ TeV}$  (upper left) and at 13 TeV (upper right) for transverse momentum,  $p_T < 8 \text{ GeV}$ , and  $p_T$  distributions in rapidity ranges with  $\Delta y = 0.5$ , scaled by 1, 0.01 and  $10^{-4}$ , for  $\sqrt{s} = 7 \text{ TeV}$  (lower left) and 13 TeV (lower right), obtained with nCTEQ15-01 PDFs [57] compared with LHCb data [15, 16]. The shaded blue region shows the range of scale dependence proportional to  $m_T$ , while the dashed magenta outer histograms show the scale dependence proportional to  $m_c = 1.27 \text{ GeV}$ . The range of scales is the same as in figure 3.

discussion of the prompt flux we use our error band that corresponds to the range of scales proportional to  $m_T$ .

Figure 9 presents the differential cross sections for charm pair production from the dipole models for 2.0 < y < 4.5. In dipole model calculations, there is no explicit  $p_T$  dependence so we do not make any  $p_T$  cuts. As the LHCb data show, the differential cross section decreases with  $p_T$ . For example, already between  $p_T = 7-8$  GeV, the differential cross section in the y = 2-2.5 bin is less than 3% of the differential cross section in the  $p_T = 1-2$  GeV bin for  $\sqrt{s} = 7$  TeV [15], so the lack of a  $p_T$  cut should not introduce a large error in the rapidity comparison.

The cross section in the dipole picture is naturally written in a mixed representation where the momentum dependence in the transverse plane is Fourier transformed to coordinate space, while the longitudinal momentum dependence is kept in momentum space (corresponding to the integration variables  $\vec{r}$  and z in eq. (2.2). It is possible to obtain a formula for the differential cross section  $d\sigma^{Gp\to Q\bar{Q}X}/d^2k_T$ , which, when integrated over



Figure 9. As in figure 8, the rapidity distribution for  $pp \to D^0/\bar{D}^0 X$  at  $\sqrt{s} = 7 \text{ TeV}$  (left) and at 13 TeV (right), calculated using dipole model with Block, AAMQS and Soyez dipoles and the LO CT14 gluon PDF with factorization scales ranging from  $M_F = m_c$  to  $4m_c$ . The solid curves are the results with the  $M_F = 2m_c$ . The value of  $\alpha_s$  is fixed to  $\alpha_s = 0.373$ . The LHCb data are from refs. [15, 16].



Figure 10. Rapidity distribution for  $pp \to D^0/\bar{D}^0 X$  at  $\sqrt{s} = 7 \text{ TeV}$  (left) and at 13 TeV (right) obtained using  $k_T$  factorization formalism, and data from LHCb experiment [15, 16]. Blue-bands correspond to the gluon density without saturation, magenta to the calculation including saturation. Bands represent the variation in the  $k_T$  integration upper limit corresponding to  $(m_T, k_{\text{max}})$  (lower plots) and  $(2.5m_T, k_{\text{max}})$  (upper plots). See text for more explanation.

 $d^2k_T$  gives eq. (2.2) [33], and in principle it could be possible to obtain the  $p_T$  dependence of the cross section in this way. In the context of calculating the prompt neutrino flux, this does not seem to be a fruitful approach, but it has, however, been used to demonstrate that if the dipole cross section is calculated in LO QCD, then the LO pQCD approach is exactly equivalent to the dipole approach [33].

In figure 9 the blue band is the range from the different dipole models with the factorization scale  $M_F = m_c$  to  $M_F = 4m_c$  for the Block dipole, the area shaded with magenta shows the differential cross sections with the AAMQS dipole, and the shaded green band shows the Soyez dipole. The central value of each model with the scale  $M_F = 2m_c$  is also presented with the solid curve. For the rapidity distributions of the charm pair produced cross sections in the dipole models with the wide uncertainty due to the factorization scales agree with the LHCb data for  $\sqrt{s}=7$  TeV and 13 TeV, however this is possible only because of the wide range of factorization scales.

The calculation using the  $k_T$  factorization formalism is shown in figure 10. It can be seen that the differential distribution in rapidity is quite sensitive to the resummation of  $\ln 1/x$  terms, in particular to the parton saturation effects. As expected, the calculation with saturation effects included is substantially below the calculation without it. To illustrate the sensitivity to the small x effects we have varied the upper limit on the integral over the transverse momentum of the off-shell gluon. This illustrates how a significant contribution comes from the lack of transverse momentum ordering in this process, and illustrates the sensitivity to transverse momenta of partons larger than the typical transverse momentum of the produced charm quark. We see that the calculation is quite sensitive to the change of the upper limit in integrals over the transverse momentum of the off-shell small x gluon. The plots with wider bands (lower plots in figure 10) were performed with the variation of the upper limit on this integral between  $(m_T, k_{\text{max}})$  where  $k_{\text{max}}$  is essentially kinematical limit in the subprocess. The smaller bands (upper plots in figure 10) correspond to the variation of  $(2.5m_T, k_{\text{max}})$ . We see that apparently the LHCb data exclude the most extreme limits of these calculations. For the evaluation of the neutrino flux, we have thus included the linear and non-linear calculation with scale choices of  $2.5m_T$  and  $k_{\rm max}$  correspondingly. They correspond to the inner band (gray shaded area) in the upper plots in figure 10.

In figure 11 we show transverse momentum distributions obtained within the  $k_T$  factorization formalism as compared with the our pQCD NLO results presented in figure 8. We see that both computations are in agreement with each other and the data for this distribution.

Figures 8, 9 and 10 all show common trends in the comparison of theory with experiment. In each case, the ratio of the rapidity distributions at  $\sqrt{s} = 13$  TeV and at  $\sqrt{s} = 7$  TeV for fixed QCD parameters is smaller than the data. However, including the theoretical uncertainty due to the choice of factorization scale, one finds reasonable agreement with the experimental data.

In figures 12, 13, 14, differential distributions  $d\sigma/dx_c$  are shown for two energies  $E = 10^6$  and  $E = 10^9$  GeV, for perturbative NLO ( $x_c = x_E \simeq x_F$ ), for the dipole model ( $x_c = x_F$ ) and for the calculation using  $k_T$  factorization ( $x_c = x_F$ ), respectively.



Figure 11. Transverse momentum distribution for  $pp \to D^0/\bar{D}^0 X$  at  $\sqrt{s} = 7 \text{ TeV}$  (left) and at 13 TeV (right) obtained using  $k_T$  factorization formalism, with data from LHCb experiment [15, 16]. Red-lines correspond to the calculation from  $k_T$  factorization using gluon with saturation (lower lines) and without saturation (upper lines). This calculation is compared with the NLO calculation with  $m_T$  scale variation shown in figure 8.



Figure 12. Charm quark differential cross section  $d\sigma/dx_E$  obtained in NLO QCD at energies of  $10^6 \text{ GeV}$  (left) and  $10^9 \text{ GeV}$  (right), compared with the central BERSS result (black dotted curve) for free proton targets (magenta dashed) and bound nucleons (solid blue curve).

Additionally, each of the calculations is compared with BERSS calculation [11]. The difference in figure 12 between the BERSS results (black dotted curves) and the current central NLO calculation (magenta dashed curves) can be attributed to the different choice of the PDFs (CTEQ10 vs nCTEQ15). As we show below, this PDF choice reduces the flux by about 1%-6% between  $10^3$ - $10^8$  GeV relative to the CTEQ10 choice.

In figure 12 we also show nuclear effects on the differential distribution (blue solid curve) in the perturbative NLO calculation. We observe that the nuclear corrections eval-



Figure 13. The differential cross section  $d\sigma/dx_F$  as a function of  $x_F$  from the dipole models for  $c\bar{c}$  production, evaluated with  $\alpha_s = 0.373$  and  $\mu_F = 2m_c$  using the CT14 LO PDF set. The charm mass is used 1.4 GeV for the Soyez dipole and 1.27 GeV for the AAMQS and the Block dipoles. The differential cross section from ref. [11] is presented for comparison.



**Figure 14**. Left: the differential cross section  $d\sigma/dx_F$  as a function of  $x_F$  for two energies  $E = 10^6$  GeV and  $E = 10^9$  GeV from  $k_T$  factorization, with linear evolution (solid upper blue), and non-linear evolution (lower dashed magenta). Shown for comparison is the perturbative differential cross section from ref. [11]. Right: comparison of the  $k_T$  factorization with nonlinear evolution for the proton case (dashed magenta) and the nitrogen (solid black).

uated here are non-negligible for higher energies. LHCb data on charm production for proton-lead collisions will be able to constrain nuclear effects for heavy nuclei in the future, as noted in ref. [86]. Figure 13 shows that the  $x_F$  distributions in the dipole model are harder than the BERSS pQCD distributions. In figure 14, which is from the  $k_T$  factorization approach, one can clearly see the effect of resummation of  $\ln 1/x$  effects, as well as the impact of gluon saturation. The linear BFKL-DGLAP evolution tends to give large contribution at large  $x_F$ , which increases at larger energies. On the other hand the calculation



Figure 15. The comparison of the differential cross section  $d\sigma/dx_F$  as a function of  $x_F$  from NLO pQCD (Blue), the dipole model (Magenta) and the  $k_T$  factorization with non-linear evolution (Green) at energies of  $E = 10^6$  GeV and  $E = 10^9$  GeV. All calculations contain nuclear corrections.

with the non-linear evolution tends to give lower values due to the suppression of the gluon density at low x. We see that the effect of the nuclear corrections are also non-negligible in this approach, and further reduce the cross section for higher energies and large values of  $x_F$ . Finally, in figure 15 we compared calculations from all approaches which include the nuclear corrections. The NLO perturbative and  $k_T$  factorization seem consistent with each other, on the other hand the dipole calculation is somewhat higher than the other two.

# 3 Prompt fluxes

### 3.1 Overview

The prompt fluxes are evaluated using the semi-analytic Z-moment method. This procedure is described in detail in, e.g., refs. [87] and [88]. This one-dimensional method consists of using spectrum weighted differential cross section for the production of hadrons, and for decays of hadrons to neutrinos, as inputs to approximate low energy and high energy solutions to the coupled cascade equations for  $p, N, h, \nu$ . The prompt flux contributions come from charmed hadrons  $h = h_c = D^0$ ,  $D^+$ ,  $D_s$ ,  $\Lambda_c$  and b hadrons  $h = h_b = B^0$ ,  $B^+$ ,  $B_s$ ,  $\Lambda_b$ and their antiparticles. The general form of the cascade equations for particle j and column depth X are

$$\frac{d\phi_j(E,X)}{dX} = -\frac{\phi_j(E,X)}{\lambda_j(E)} - \frac{\phi_j(E,X)}{\lambda_j^{\text{dec}}(E)} + \sum S(k \to j), \qquad (3.1)$$

$$S(k \to j) = \int_{E}^{\infty} dE' \frac{\phi_k(E', X)}{\lambda_k(E')} \frac{dn(k \to j; E', E)}{dE}, \qquad (3.2)$$

$$\frac{dn(k \to j; E', E)}{dE} = \frac{1}{\sigma_{kA}(E')} \frac{d\sigma(kA \to jY; E', E)}{dE} \quad \text{(interaction)}, \quad (3.3)$$

$$\frac{dn(k \to j; E', E)}{dE} = \frac{1}{\Gamma_k(E')} \frac{d\Gamma(k \to jY; E', E)}{dE} \qquad (\text{decay}).$$
(3.4)

The Z-moment method approximates the source term for  $k \to j$  with interaction length  $\lambda_k$ 

$$S(k \to j) \simeq Z_{kj}(E) \frac{\phi_k(E, X)}{\lambda_k(E)}, \qquad (3.5)$$

$$Z_{kj}(E) = \int_{E}^{\infty} dE' \frac{\phi_k^0(E')}{\phi_k^0(E)} \frac{\lambda_k(E)}{\lambda_k(E')} \frac{dn(k \to j; E', E)}{dE} , \qquad (3.6)$$

for  $\phi_k(E, X) = \phi_k^0(E)f(X)$ . The factorization of the X dependence in the flux is a good approximation for the Earth's atmosphere, where we approximate the target nucleon density with an exponential atmosphere

$$\rho = \rho_0 \exp(-h/h_0), \qquad (3.7)$$

where  $h_0 = 6.4$  km and  $\rho_0 h_0 = 1300$  g/cm<sup>2</sup>. The column depth is then given by  $X(\ell, \theta) = \int_{\ell}^{\infty} d\ell' \rho(h(\ell', \theta))$ , where  $h(\ell, \theta)$  is the height at distance from the ground  $\ell$  and zenith angle  $\theta$ . We shall be focusing on vertical fluxes,  $\theta = 0$ .

Using the assumption of the exponential dependence of density on height in the atmosphere, the approximate solutions can be conveniently written in terms of the interaction lengths  $\Lambda_k = \lambda_k/(1 - Z_{kk})$ , giving  $f(X) = \exp(-X/\Lambda_k)$ . For particle k decays in the relativistic limit,  $\lambda_k^{dec} = E_k \tau_k \rho/m_k$ . As a result, the high and low energy lepton fluxes at Earth scale with the cosmic ray flux and can be expressed as

$$\phi_{h\to\nu}^{\text{low}} = \sum_{h} \frac{Z_{Nh} Z_{h\nu}}{1 - Z_{NN}} \phi_N^0 \,, \tag{3.8}$$

$$\phi_{h \to \nu}^{\text{high}} = \sum_{h} \frac{Z_{Nh} Z_{h\nu}}{1 - Z_{NN}} \frac{\ln(\Lambda_h / \Lambda_N)}{1 - \Lambda_N / \Lambda_h} \frac{\epsilon_h}{E} \phi_N^0 , \qquad (3.9)$$

where each Z-moment and effective interaction length  $\Lambda_k$  depends on the energy of the prompt lepton. We have here defined the critical energy  $\epsilon_k = (m_k c^2 h_0 / c\tau_k) g(\theta)$  for hadron k, which separates the high- and low-energy regimes. The angular dependence of the flux enters through the critical energy, with the function  $g(\theta) \simeq 1/\cos\theta$  for small angles close to vertical, but for angles near horizontal, it is more complicated due to the geometry of the Earth and the atmosphere. We will not need the details here, but more information can be found in e.g. [88].

For both  $h_c$  and  $h_b$ , the transition between low energy and high energy fluxes is at energies  $E_{\nu} \sim 10^8 \,\text{GeV}$ . We evaluate the flux by taking the sum over hadron contributions:

$$\phi_{\nu} = \sum_{h} \frac{\phi_{h \to \nu}^{\text{low}} \phi_{h \to \nu}^{\text{high}}}{(\phi_{h \to \nu}^{\text{low}} + \phi_{h \to \nu}^{\text{high}})} \,. \tag{3.10}$$

This approach is applicable to  $\nu = \nu_{\mu}, \nu_{e}$  and  $\nu_{\tau}$  plus their antiparticles (and to  $\mu^{+} + \mu^{-}$ , which are stable nearly massless leptons to first approximation). The prompt electron neutrino flux and prompt muon flux are essentially equal to the prompt muon neutrino flux. This comes from the nearly identical kinematics in the semileptonic charmed hadron and b-hadron decays for the  $e\nu_{e}$  and  $\mu\nu_{\mu}$  final states. Tau neutrinos, however, are produced at a lower rate, with the dominant source being  $h = D_s$  [8, 9] where  $D_s \to \nu_\tau \tau$  comes with a branching fraction of  $5.54 \pm 0.24\%$  [54].

Tau decays are also prompt, with  $c\tau_{\tau} = 87.03 \,\mu\text{m}$  (as compared to  $c\tau_{D_s} = 149.9 \,\mu\text{m}$  [54].). Tau energy loss in the atmosphere is negligible, so we include the chain decay  $D_s \to \tau \to \nu_{\tau}$ as well as the direct decay  $D_s \to \nu_{\tau}$ . Since most of the  $D_s$  energy goes to the tau lepton, and approximately 1/3 of the tau energy goes to the tau neutrino, the chain decay contribution is larger than the direct contribution of  $D_s$  decays to the prompt tau neutrino flux. For the chain decay  $D_s \to \tau \to \nu_{\tau}$ ,

$$Z_{D_{s}\nu_{\tau}}^{(\text{chain})}(E) = \int_{E}^{\infty} dE_{D} \int_{E}^{E_{D}} dE_{\tau} \frac{\phi_{D}(E_{D})}{\phi_{D}(E)} \frac{E}{E_{D}} \frac{dn_{D_{s}\to\tau}}{dE_{\tau}} (E_{D}, E_{\tau}) \frac{dn_{\tau\to\nu_{\tau}}}{dE} (E_{\tau}, E) .$$
(3.11)

In the results below, we approximate all  $\tau$  decays as prompt. This overestimates the tau neutrino flux above  $E_{\nu} \sim 10^7 \,\text{GeV}$  [9], however, at these high energies, the tau neutrino flux is quite low anyway.

### 3.2 Cosmic ray flux, fragmentation and decays

A broken power law (BPL) approximation of the cosmic ray nucleon flux in terms of the energy per nucleon E is of the form

$$\phi_N^0(E) \left[ \frac{\text{nucleons}}{\text{cm}^2 \,\text{s sr GeV}} \right] = 1.7 \ (E/\text{GeV})^{-2.7} \quad E < 5 \cdot 10^6 \,\text{GeV}$$
$$= 174 \ (E/\text{GeV})^{-3} \quad E > 5 \cdot 10^6 \,\text{GeV} \,. \tag{3.12}$$

The BPL has been used to evaluate the prompt flux in many earlier references. While the all particle spectrum resembles a broken power law, recent analyses have shown that it poorly represents the nucleon spectrum, even though the composition of the cosmic rays is not completely known [52, 53, 89]. Recent three component models [89] with extragalactic protons (called H3p here) or an extragalactic mixed composition (H3a) come from an analysis of cosmic ray measurements paired with fits to functional forms for the spectrum by composition. The four component model by Gaisser, Stanev and Tilav (GST<sup>\*</sup>) [52] is labeled here by GST4. To compare with other flux calculations, we use the BPL for reference. The H3a flux dips more precipitously at high energies than the H3p flux. We show below that the H3p and GST4 inputs to the prompt flux lead to similar predictions.

Our three approaches to charm production provide the  $x_E$  or  $x_F$  distribution of the charmed quark, and similarly for the *b* quark. We use the Kniehl and Kramer fragmentation functions for charm [90], using the LO parameters with the overall normalization scaled to account for updated fragmentation fractions determined from a recent review of charm production data in ref. [91]. The original normalizations in ref. [90] had the fragmentation fractions add to 1.22 rather than 1.00. Using the updated fragmentation fractions to rescale the fragmentation functions, the sum of fractions is 0.99. For the *B* meson fragmentation, we use the power law form of Kniehl et al. from ref. [92], rescaled to match the fragmentation fractions of ref. [93]. The details of the fragmentation functions and parameters are shown in appendix A. Decay distributions and parameters for the branching fractions and effective hadronic masses for semi-lepton heavy meson decays are listed in appendix B.

The Kniehl and Kramer (KK) provide LO and NLO fragmentation functions [90], the later, in principle, being more suitable for our NLO pQCD calculation. However, the dipole model approach is a LO calculation, so we use the LO KK fragmentation, consistent with the way fragmentation was used in ERS [10]. We note that in our previous NLO pQCD work, BERSS [11], we also used the LO KK fragmentation functions. Therefore, in order to compare our new NLO pQCD results and results from different dipole models and  $k_T$  factorization with the previous work in ERS and BERSS, we use the LO parametrization of the KK fragmentation function even for the NLO pQCD calculation. Since the dominant contribution is at threshold, the fragmentation functions are not evolved. We find that if we use NLO KK fragmentation functions, it results in only 2% lower fluxes than obtained with the LO KK fragmentation functions when both are rescaled to match the fragmentation fractions in [91].

The results presented below use  $z = E_h/E_Q$  as the fractional variable in the fragmentation functions. There are other choices possible, however, this definition can be used for all three approaches. The flux has some sensitivity to the charmed hadron fragmentation functions. We have also used the Braaten et al. [94] (BCFY) fragmentation functions for quark fragmentation to pseudoscalar and vector states, updating the discussion of Cacciari and Nason in ref. [95], for  $D^0$  and  $D^{\pm}$ , and approximate forms for  $D_s$  and  $\Lambda_c$ . In comparison to the Kniehl-Kramer fragmentation results, the flux evaluated with the BCFY fragmentation functions may be as much as 30–50% larger depending on parameter choices.

The fragmentation process is thus somewhat uncertain. An alternative to using fragmentation functions is to use Monte Carlo event generators such as Pythia [96] to hadronize the partonic state. This typically leads to a harder spectrum of D-mesons than with fragmentation functions, see e.g. [97, 98]. The reason is that the hadron that contains the charm (or anticharm) quark can pick up some momentum from the beam remnant of the interaction, and the charmed hadron can in fact have a larger longitudinal momentum than the original charm quark. In Pythia this is modeled as a drag effect from the string. This effect is not possible in  $e^+e^-$  collisions, and in hadron-hadron collisions it is larger for more forward production. Fragmentation functions, however, are fitted from  $e^+e^-$  data and more central hadron-hadron data, so if such an effect is real, it may not show up in the fit.

Garzelli et al. [12] computed the charm cross section at NLO using the NLO Monte Carlo POWHEG BOX [24, 99–101], and used Pythia for fragmentation. The resulting prompt flux is compared with the BERSS flux [11], which is computed using fragmentation functions, and is found to be around 30% larger than BERSS. We believe that one reason for this is the different fragmentation method used. We have checked, using POWHEG BOX, that the produced spectrum of D-mesons is indeed harder when the Pythia fragmentation is used rather than the KK fragmentation functions applied to the same spectrum of charm quarks. The difference becomes larger for larger  $x_F$ , but is small for small  $x_F$ . The situation is therefore somewhat unclear, and ideally more forward data would be needed to resolve the question. The most forward data that we have considered is the LHCb data discussed above, but this is not forward enough to be sensitive to differences in fragmentation. The prompt flux, however, could be sensitive to such effects.



Figure 16. The NLO pQCD flux predictions from decay of charm and bottom hadrons. The BERSS flux was evaluated for charm contributions using the CT10 PDFs without nuclear corrections. The other curves shown the sum of the charm and bottom contributions evaluated using the nCTEQ15-14 PDFs.

Finally, to evaluate the prompt atmospheric lepton fluxes, we need the Z-moments  $Z_{pp}$ ,  $Z_{DD}$ ,  $Z_{BB}$  and interaction lengths. We make the same assumptions as in ref. [11] (BERSS). We use expressions for  $d\sigma/dx_E$  that factorize into energy and  $x_E$  dependent functions. The energy dependence ensures that the differential cross section grows with energy following the relevant cross section growth with energy. For pA scattering, the cross section parametrization of EPOS 1.99 is used [102], with the  $x_E$  dependent function proportional to  $(1 - x_E)^n$  with n = 0.51. For DA and BA scattering, we approximate the energy dependence with the cross section for kaon-nucleon scattering determined by the COMPAS group (see ref. [54]), scaled by  $A^{0.75}$  for nuclear corrections, and use the same  $(1 - x_E)^n$  behavior for both B and D scattering with air nuclei, with n = 1.

# 3.3 Prompt muon neutrino flux

We begin with the muon neutrino fluxes predicted by each of the three approaches. All of the plots shown are for  $\nu + \bar{\nu}$  for a single flavor. The prompt fluxes for  $\nu_{\mu} + \bar{\nu}_{\mu}$  are equal to the  $\nu_e + \bar{\nu}_e$  and  $\mu^+ + \mu^-$  fluxes. We show the vertical fluxes. Angular correlations are relevant only for  $E \gtrsim 10^7$  GeV.

The NLO pQCD evaluation of the fluxes with nuclear corrections are shown for the broken power law, H3p and H3a cosmic ray fluxes in figure 16 in the left panel. The flux is conventionally shown scaled by  $E_{\nu}^{3}$  to display the features of the flux more clearly. For comparison, we show the BERSS [11] perturbative result. The right panel shows the flux result for H3p and GST4 cosmic ray inputs, where the GST4 curve shows a dip at  $E_{\nu} \sim 10^{6}$  GeV relative to the H3p curve. In each of the curves, the central solid line is from central scale choice  $(M_F, M_R) = (2.1, 1.6)m_T$ , and the error band reflects the uncertainty in the nuclear PDFs and the range of scales  $(M_F, M_R) = (1.25-4.65, 1.48-1.71)m_T$ , scale factors representing the best fit range discussed in ref. [56] and used in our earlier flux evaluation [11].



Figure 17. Left: the NLO pQCD flux prediction from bottom hadrons. The fluxes from B hadrons have a ratio of about 2 %, 7 (6)% and 9 (7) % to those from charm at  $10^3$ ,  $10^6$  and  $10^8$  GeV, respectively, for nitrogen (Proton) PDF. Right: nuclear effect in the prompt neutrino flux evaluated in the NLO pQCD approach.

The new evaluation of the prompt flux has several differences relative to the BERSS result shown in black. Here, with the updated charm fragmentation fractions [91], the flux is reduced by about 20%. The  $b\bar{b}$  contribution was not included in BERSS. It contributes 5–10% of the flux at  $E_{\nu} \sim 10^5 - 10^8 \,\text{GeV}$ , as shown in the left panel of figure 17. Finally, in this work we have included nuclear effects on the prompt neutrino flux, which reduces the flux by 20%–30% for energies between  $E = 10^{5}$ –10<sup>8</sup> GeV for the nCTEQ15-14 PDFs, with the largest effect at the highest energy. We note that the nuclear effect is more pronounced on the prompt neutrino flux than it is for the total charm cross section, due to the fact that the flux calculation probes forward charm production (small x of the parton from the target air nucleus) where nuclear suppression is larger. For reference, the total charm cross section suppression due to nuclear effects is between 4% and 13% at  $10^{5}$ – $10^{8}$  GeV with the nCTEQ15-14 PDFs. The gluon PDF in figure 1 helps illustrate this point. The cross section is dominated by the small  $x_F$  region, where the parton momentum fractions are nearly equal, so probing less the shadowing region. The ratio of the flux with nuclear effects to the flux using free protons (nCTEQ15-14 PDFs compared to nCTEQ15-01 PDFs) is shown as a function of energy in the right panel of figure 17.

The combination of all these effects results in our NLO pQCD prompt flux estimate being 30% lower than BERSS at  $10^3$  GeV, about 40% lower at  $10^6$  GeV and almost 45% lower at  $10^8$  GeV, when we use nCTEQ15-14 PDF as parton PDFs in the air.

When we use CT14 PDFs plus EPS09 for nuclear effects, our results are only moderately affected by nuclear corrections. In the left panel of figure 18, we show the fluxes, and in the right panel, the ratio of the flux with nuclear effects to the one without. At very high energies, the CT14 PDFs predict a similar flux to the one obtained with nCTEQ15 PDFs, with the nuclear correction being somewhat smaller than for nCTEQ15 case. Nuclear corrections are uncertain for a larger range of x. The EPS09 suppression factors are frozen at  $R_i^A(x_{\min}, Q)$  for  $x < x_{\min} = 10^{-6}$ , halting a decline in energy for the ratio of fluxes with nuclear corrected and free nucleon targets.



Figure 18. The central prompt neutrino flux prediction using the CT14 PDFs with EPS nuclear corrections (left), and the ratio of the fluxes with and without the nuclear corrections (right), as a function of neutrino energy. As in figure 16, the upper and lower limits correspond to variation in the QCD scales and the uncertainty from the different PDF sets.



Figure 19. Dipole model flux predictions for  $\nu_{\mu} + \bar{\nu}_{\mu}$  as a function of energy, compared to the ERS dipole results [10]. The error bands come from the three dipole models, and varying the factorization scale dependence from  $M_F = m_c$  to  $M_F = 4m_c$ .

The dipole model results are shown in figure 19, together with our ERS dipole result from ref. [10] for the broken power law. Compared to the ERS result, we have used updated PDFs (LO CT14) and included the  $b\bar{b}$  contribution, and we have considered two other dipole models beyond the Soyez model used in ref. [10]. In comparing the Soyez dipole calculations, the updated fragmentation fraction reduces the overall flux by approximately 20%. Relative to the ERS calculation, we have updated the  $Z_{pp}$  and  $Z_{DD}$  moments, as discussed in detail in ref. [11], which gives a further reduction (about 35%) in the flux prediction. The AAMQS dipole and phenomenological Block dipole give very similar



Figure 20. Muon neutrino plus antineutrino prompt flux predictions from the  $k_T$  factorization model. Left: comparison of the calculations based on linear evolution (without saturation) and with nonlinear evolution (with saturation) in the proton case. Right: comparison of the calculations which include saturation effects in proton and nitrogen.

results and are the upper part of the uncertainty bands. Nuclear corrections to the dipole model flux predictions reduce the flux by about 10% at  $E_{\nu} \sim 10^5 \text{ GeV}$  and reduce by about 20% at  $E_{\nu} \sim 10^8 \text{ GeV}$ .

Figure 20 shows the  $\nu_{\mu} + \bar{\nu}_{\mu}$  flux predictions in the  $k_T$  formalism with linear and nonlinear evolution for the unintegrated gluon density. Nuclear corrections for nitrogen are included in this approach. The predicted high energy flux in the  $k_T$  factorization formalism is consistent the other approaches, with the exception of the low energy where the flux is somewhat smaller. The low energy deficit reflects the same deficit of the cross section shown in figure 6 since the  $k_T$  factorization model applies to small x physics and therefore applies to high energies. At the high energies shown, the linear  $k_T$  approach is about 7 times larger than the non-linear  $k_T$  flux prediction, reflecting the range of impact that small-x effects can have on the high energy prompt flux.

Finally, in figure 21, we compare the three approaches using the broken power law with the BERSS [11], ERS [10], GMS [12] and GRRST [14] results. Relative to the BERSS flux, the dipole model predicts a larger low energy flux, while the  $k_T$  factorization model based on the linear evolution predicts a larger high energy flux. On the other hand the flux based on the  $k_T$  factorization with nuclear corrections is consistent with the lower end of the NLO pQCD calculation. Our new perturbative result lies below the BERSS band for most of the energy range, due to a combination of the nuclear shadowing and the rescaling of the fragmentation fractions to sum to unity. The total uncertainty range of our predictions from the different approaches is compatible with the other recent evaluations of GMS and GRRST, with the latter giving a larger error band.

#### 3.4 Prompt tau neutrino flux

To finish our discussion of prompt neutrino fluxes, for completeness we show the tau neutrino plus antineutrino flux in figure 22 in the NLO pQCD framework. Using the central scale choice in the NLO pQCD calculation of charm pair production with nCTEQ15-14 PDFs, together with scale variations to obtain the uncertainty band, and the KK fragmen-



Figure 21. Comparison of the muon neutrino plus antineutrino fluxes using all the approaches: NLO perturbative QCD with nCTEQ15 (blue) and EPS09 (orange), dipole model (magenta),  $k_T$  factorization (green) with the other calculations (black): BERSS [11], ERS [10], GMS [12] and GRRST [14].

tation functions, the sum of the direct and chain contributions from  $D_s$  and the semileptonic  $B^0$  and  $B^+$  (and charge conjugate) decays to  $\nu_{\tau}$ , the prompt tau neutrino flux is shown in figure 22 for the broken power law and H3p cosmic ray fluxes [51]. As above, the KK fragmentation fraction of 12.3% of charm to  $D_s$  has been updated to 8.1% following ref. [91].

The flux is about 10% of the prompt muon neutrino plus antineutrino flux. As noted above, the very high energy flux shown here overestimates the tau neutrino flux because we have approximated the tau decays as all prompt. The steeply falling shaded green band shows the range of the tau neutrino flux coming from  $\nu_{\mu} \rightarrow \nu_{\tau}$  oscillations for  $\nu_{\mu}$ 's from pion and kaon decays, with the upper edge coming from  $\nu_{\mu} \rightarrow \nu_{\tau}$  conversion through the diameter of the Earth. Secondary production of tau neutrinos from interactions of atmospheric leptons in the Earth are quite small [103–105].

The chain decay  $D_s \to \tau \to \nu_{\tau}$  dominates the flux. The tau neutrino flux from the chain decay is approximately a factor of 4 larger at low energies than from the direct decays, and becoming larger at higher energies. The fraction of the tau neutrino flux from B's is shown in the right panel of figure 22. We have not included the  $B_s$  and  $\Lambda_b$  decays as the branching fractions to  $\nu_{\tau}$  are not measured. They may contribute as much to the prompt tau neutrino flux as the  $B^0 + B^+$  contributions.



Figure 22. Left: the prompt atmospheric tau neutrino flux  $E^3_{\nu}\phi_{\nu_{\tau}+\bar{\nu}_{\tau}}$  as a function of neutrino energy using NLO pQCD for the broken power law and the H3p cosmic ray fluxes. The vertical green band shows the oscillated conventional muon neutrino plus antineutrino flux. Right: fraction of the flux from  $B^0 + B^+$  and charge conjugate mesons.



Figure 23. A comparison of our neutrino fluxes from different QCD models with the IceCube upper limit from ref. [106]. The results are for the H3p cosmic ray spectrum. We also show the conventional vertical neutrino flux.

### 3.5 Comparison with IceCube limit

In figure 23 we show our results for the prompt neutrino flux obtained in the three different QCD approaches, compared with the conventional neutrino flux and the IceCube limit on the prompt neutrino flux using 3 years of data [106]. In the left figure, we scale the flux by  $E^2$  and in the right figure, by  $E^3$ . The IceCube result is an upper limit at 90% C.L. that places a bound on the normalization of a flux with the same spectral shape as the ERS model [10], and is thus not completely model independent. The upper limit corresponds to 0.54 times the ERS flux, rescaled from the broken power law CR flux used by ERS to the H3p CR flux, using the method proposed in [89]. For comparison, the red band in figure 23 represents the  $1\sigma$  error on the measured astrophysical neutrino flux. It is important to note that the evaluation of this IceCube limit is not independent of the modeling of the astrophysical neutrino flux, which in this case is taken as an unbroken power law, and the

normalization of the ERS flux is taken as a free parameter in a likelihood fit to the data, yielding the displayed upper limit.

From figure 23 we note that the IceCube limit is in tension with all dipole model predictions, and very close or at the border of the upper limit of the  $k_T$  factorization approach. On the other hand both the NLO pQCD prediction which includes nuclear effects via the nuclear parton distributions, and the nonlinear  $k_T$  calculation, are below the IceCube limit. We note, however, that the nuclear effects in the dipole model and with the EPS09 pQCD approach are smaller than in the nCTEQ15-14 pQCD approach. IceCube data may help distinguish between nuclear suppression models at small-x.

#### 4 Discussion and conclusions

## 4.1 LHC and IceCube

As figures 8, 9, 10 show, rapidity distributions measured at 7 and 13 TeV [15, 16] seem to be somewhat in tension within all three approaches if one considers a fixed prescription for the scales independent of energy. The theoretical error bands, however, do accommodate the data as noted in ref. [14]. Figures 8, 9, 10 compare the distributions of charm quarks with the measured  $D^0$  distributions. In the case of the  $k_T$  factorization approach the 7 TeV data seem to be more consistent with the calculation with the nonlinear gluon density, or the lower band of the calculation with linear gluon density, whereas the data at 13 TeV are more in line with the evaluation with the linear evolution. This is rather counterintuitive and perhaps could suggest that the calculation with nonlinear evolution is disfavored by the data. However, given the spread of the uncertainty of the calculation it is not possible to make decisive statement at this time and more studies are necessary. The dipole model evaluation favors the Soyez form for  $\sqrt{s} = 7 \text{ TeV}$  and the AAMQS or Block form for  $\sqrt{s} = 13 \,\text{TeV}$  for our fixed value of  $\alpha_s$ . The central pQCD predictions seem to indicate that the distributions don't rise quickly enough with increasing  $\sqrt{s}$ . In ref. [13], the NLO pQCD prediction of the ratio of  $d\sigma/dy$  in the forward region for LHCb for  $\sqrt{s} = 13$  TeV to  $\sqrt{s} = 7 \text{ TeV}$  was predicted to be on the order of 1.3–1.5, which we also see in figure 8. The data show the ratio to be closer to a factor of 2. Nevertheless, for all three approaches, the LHCb data fall within the theoretical uncertainty bands.

We have calculated the rapidity and  $p_T$  distribution using our theoretical QCD parameters, i.e. the range of factorization scales for a given charm mass which was determined from the energy dependence of the total charm cross section. We have found our results to be consistent with LHCb data. The range of  $m_T$  dependent factorization scales in the pQCD evaluation adequately cover the range of LHCb data, while the range of  $m_c$  dependent factorization scales overestimate the uncertainty. In the case of the dipole models, in which there is no explicit  $p_T$  dependence, we have only made comparison with the LHCb rapidity distributions.

The IceCube Neutrino Observatory and other high energy neutrino detectors may be useful in getting a handle on forward charm production. Indeed, the high energy prompt lepton flux depends on charm production at even higher rapidity than measured by LHCb, as can be seen by the following argument. In both the high and low energy forms of the



Figure 24.  $Z_{pD^0}(x_{\text{max}})/Z_{pD^0}(x_{\text{max}}=1)$  for the H3p flux and  $E = 10^6$  and  $10^7 \,\text{GeV}$ .

prompt lepton fluxes, the Z-moments for cosmic ray production of charm, e.g.,  $Z_{pD^0}(E)$ , depend on the lepton energy E. To evaluate the Z-moment for charm production, the energy integral over E' in eq. (3.6) can be cast in the form of an integral over  $x_E = E/E'$  that runs from  $0 \rightarrow 1$ , account for incident cosmic rays (p) with energy E' producing, in this case,  $D^0$  with energy E. Figure 24 shows the fraction of the Z-moment integral in eq. (3.6) for  $x_E = 0 \rightarrow x_{\text{max}}$  for two different energies using NLO pQCD with the central scale choice and the H3p cosmic ray flux. For  $E = 10^6 \text{ GeV}$ , about 10% of the Z-moment comes from  $x_E < x_c = 3.6 \times 10^{-2}$ , while for  $E = 10^7 \text{ GeV}$ , this same percentage comes from  $x_E < x_c = 1.5 \times 10^{-2}$ . We can use the value of  $x_E > x_c$  that gives 90% of the Z-moment as a guide to what are the useful kinematic ranges in high energy pp collider experiments.

We approximate

$$x_E \simeq x_F \simeq \frac{m_T}{\sqrt{s}} e^{y_{cm}} \simeq \frac{m_D}{\sqrt{s}} e^{y_{cm}} , \qquad (4.1)$$

in terms of the hadronic center of mass rapidity, which leads to

$$y_{cm} > \frac{1}{2} \ln \left( \frac{x_c \, 2m_p E}{m_D^2} \right) \equiv y_{cm}^c \tag{4.2}$$

for 90% of the Z-moment evaluation. For  $E = 10^6$  GeV, this indicates that the Z-moment is dominated by  $y_{cm} > 4.9$  with  $\sqrt{s} = 1.4$ –7.3 TeV. For  $E = 10^7$  GeV,  $y_{cm} > 5.7$  and  $\sqrt{s} = 4.4$ –35 TeV. These approximate results show that the LHCb results directly constrain only a small portion of the contribution of charm production to the prompt neutrino flux.

Finally, let us note that there could potentially be another source of charm in the proton. It has been suggested [107, 108] that there could exist heavy quark pairs in the Fock state decomposition of bound hadrons. This would be an additional non-perturbative contribution and is usually referred to as intrinsic charm to distinguish it from the perturbative and radiatively generated component considered in this work. Intrinsic charm parameterized in PDFs has been explored in e.g., refs. [109, 110]. There are studies that explore how to probe intrinsic charm in direct and indirect ways [111, 112]. Intrinsic charm,

if it exists, would be mostly concentrated at high values of x of the proton and may therefore be another contribution to the very forward production relevant to the prompt lepton flux. Its unique features were recently discussed in [113–115]. We note however, that the current IceCube limit on the prompt flux is already quite constraining and leaves a rather narrow window for a sizeable intrinsic charm component. Eventual IceCube observations (rather than limits) of the prompt atmospheric lepton flux, may be unique in its ability to measure or constrain the physics at high rapidities.

# 4.2 Summary

In this work we have presented results for prompt neutrino flux using several QCD approaches: an NLO perturbative QCD calculation including nuclear effects, three different dipole models and the  $k_T$  factorization approach with the unintegrated gluon density from the unified BFKL-DGLAP framework with and without saturation effects. Numerical results are listed in tables 8, 9, 10 and 11. The energy dependence of the total charm cross section, measured from low energies (100 GeV) to LHC energies (13 TeV), is best described with NLO pQCD approach. On the other hand the dipole and  $k_T$  factorization approaches are theoretically suited to describe heavy quark production at high energies, however, they need additional corrections at lower energies.

We have included theoretical uncertainties due to the choice of PDFs, choice of scales and nuclear effects, constrained by the total charm cross section measurements for energies between 100 GeV up to 13 TeV. We have shown that differential cross sections for charmed mesons obtained with these QCD parameters are in good agreement with the LHCb data. We have found that the prompt neutrino flux is higher in case of the dipole model and the  $k_T$  factorization model (without saturation) than the NLO pQCD case. The former seem to be numerically consistent with the previous ERS [10] results, while NLO pQCD is smaller than BERSS [11]. For the nCTEQ15-14 evaluation, this is mostly due to the nuclear effects. In particular, we have found that the nuclear effect on the prompt neutrino flux is large in case of the pQCD approach with nCTEQ15-14 PDFs, as large as 30% at high energies, while this effect is smaller (~ 20%) for the dipole model approach. The EPS09 nuclear corrections suppress the pQCD flux calculations with free nucleons by only ~ 10%. The nuclear corrections are also significant in the  $k_T$  factorization approach, as large as 50% at high energies, thus lowering the flux to the level comparable with that obtained using the NLO pQCD with nuclear PDFs.

Contributions from bb are on the order of 5–10% to the prompt flux of  $\nu_{\mu} + \bar{\nu}_{\mu}$  in the energy range of interest to IceCube. For completeness, we have also evaluated the flux of  $\nu_{\tau} + \bar{\nu}_{\tau}$  from  $D_s$  and B decays.

We have also shown results for different cosmic ray primary fluxes and show how the shape of the particular choice affects the neutrino flux. As before, the updated fluxes for the primary CR give much lower results than the simple broken power law used in many previous estimates.

Finally we have compared our predictions with the IceCube limit [2]. We have found that the current IceCube limit seems to exclude some dipole models and the upper limit of the  $k_T$  factorization model (without any nuclear shadowing), while our results obtained with the NLO pQCD approach with nCTEQ15-14 and the calculations based on the  $k_T$  factorization with nuclear corrections included are substantially lower and thus evade this limit.

Since it is very important to determine the energy at which prompt neutrinos become dominant over the conventional neutrino flux, we expect that the calculation of the conventional flux might be improved by using the two experiments at the LHC that have detectors in the forward region, the Large Hadron Collider forward (LHCf) experiment [116] and the Total, Elastic and Diffractive Cross-section Measurement experiment (TOTEM) [117]. The LHCf experiment measures neutral particles emitted in the very forward region (8.8 < y < 10.7), where particles carry a large fraction of the collision energy, of relevance to the better understanding of the development of showers of particles produced in the atmosphere by high-energy cosmic rays. The TOTEM experiment takes precise measurements of protons as they emerge from collisions in the LHC at small angles to the beampipe, thus in the forward region. In addition to measuring the total and elastic cross section, TOTEM has measured the pseudorapidity distribution of charged particles at  $\sqrt{s} = 8$  TeV in the forward region (5.3 <  $|\eta| < 6.4$ ). These measurements could be used to constrain models of particle production in cosmic ray interactions with the atmosphere and potentially affect the conventional neutrino flux, which is coming from pion decays.

Future IceCube measurements have a good chance of providing valuable information about the elusive physics at very small x, in the kinematic range which is beyond the reach of the present colliders. Keeping in mind the caveats involved in the current IceCube treatment of the atmospheric cascade and the incoming cosmic ray fluxes, the observation or non-observation of the prompt flux may give important insight into the QCD mechanism for heavy quark production.

First, the nuclear gluon distribution in the region  $x \leq 0.01$  is currently not constrained with collider or fixed target experiments. On the other hand, we expect that the upcoming 6 year IceCube data will be sensitive to our pQCD flux results, especially those obtained with the EPS framework that includes nuclear effects.

Second, from our study we find that the IceCube limit shown in figure 23 already severely constrains the dipole model approach, even with the lowest cosmic ray flux (H3p). While it is possible that a modified dipole approach, such as a next-to-leading order calculation, would yield a lower charm cross section that is not in tension with IceCube, the dipole model calculation used here is not flexible enough to modify so that it evades the limit, i.e., this tension cannot be solved by adjusting dipole parameters, because they are constrained by the LHCb data.

**Note added.** After submitting our paper, the IceCube Collaboration released their upper limit on the prompt atmospheric muon neutrino flux as 1.06 times the ERS flux based on the 6 year data [118]. We find that our results presented in this work are below this new IceCube limit.

# Acknowledgments

We thank Krzysztof Kutak for making available the code for the calculation of the unintegrated gluon distribution, and Fred Olness and Aleksander Kusina for providing the low-x

Particle	N	$B_c$	$\epsilon$
$D^0$	0.577	0.606	0.101
$D^+$	0.238	0.244	0.104
$D_s^+$	0.0327	0.081	0.0322
$\Lambda_c^+$	0.0067	0.061	0.00418

**Table 3**. Parameters for the charm quark fragmentation from [90], with the normalization N rescaled to match the fragmentation fractions in ref. [91].

grids for the nCTEQ15-14 PDFs. We thank Olga Botner, Jean-René Cudell, Sebastian Euler, Allan Hallgren, Gunnar Ingelman, Leif Rädel, Sebastian Schoenen, and Torbjörn Sjöstrand for helpful comments and discussion.

This research was supported in part by the US Department of Energy contracts DE-SC-0010113, DE-SC-0010114, DE-SC-0002145, DE-SC0009913, the National Research Foundation of Korea (RF) grant funded by the Korea government of the Ministry of Education, Science and Technology (MEST) No. 2011-0017430 and No. 2011-0020333, the National Science Center, Poland, grant No. 2015/17/B/ST2/01838, the Swedish Research Council contract No. 621-2011-5107 and the Fonds de la Recherche Scientifique-FNRS, Belgium, under grant No. 4.4501.15.

# A Fragmentation

The parameters for the charm fragmentation functions are shown in table 3 for the fragmentation function of energy fraction z, of the form discussed by Kniehl and Kramer in ref. [90],

$$D_c^h(z) = \frac{Nz(1-z)^2}{[(1-z)^2 + \epsilon z]^2}.$$
(A.1)

We use the LO parameters of ref. [90], with the overall normalization N rescaled to account for updated fragmentation fractions determined from a recent review of charm production data in ref. [91]. The corresponding fragmentation fractions for  $c = D^0$ ,  $D^+$ ,  $D_s^+$  and  $\Lambda_c^+$ are listed in the column labeled  $B_c$  in table 3. This is our default set of fragmentation functions (KK).

Alternate fragmentation functions for charmed hadrons is provided by Braaten et al. [94] (BCFY) fragmentation functions for quark fragmentation to pseudoscalar and vector states, with input from Cacciari and Nason in ref. [95] for  $D^0$  and  $D^{\pm}$ . The parameter r in their fragmentation functions

$$D_c^h(z,r) = N_P^h D^{(P)}(z,r) + N_V^h \tilde{D}^{(V)}(z,r)$$
(A.2)

depends on the charm mass and hadron mass. Cacciari et al. in ref. [95] suggest a central value of r = 0.1 for  $D^0$  and  $D^+$ , however they note that r = 0.06 is a better choice when  $m_c = 1.27 \text{ GeV}$ . Detailed formulas for the direct (P) and vector meson (V) contributions are in ref. [94]. In a manner similar to ref. [119], we have adapted the BCFY fragmentation

Particle $h$	$N_P^h$	$N_V^h$	r
$D^0$	0.214	0.391	$0.1 \ (0.06)$
$D^+$	0.164	0.0808	$0.1 \ (0.06)$
$D_s^+$	0.0252	0.0555	$0.15 \ (0.09)$

**Table 4**. Following ref. [95] for the BCFY fragmentation functions of the form eq. (A.2), normalized to the fragmentation fractions of ref. [91].

Particle	N	$B_b$	α	β
$B^0$	3991	0.337	16.87	2.63
$B^+$	3991	0.337	16.87	2.63
$B_s^+$	1066	0.090	16.87	2.63
$\Lambda_b$	2795	0.236	16.87	2.63

**Table 5.** Parameters for the *b* quark fragmentation from Kniehl et al. [92], with the normalization rescaled to match the fragmentation fractions in [93, 120]. The  $\Lambda_b$  fragmentation function is approximated by the meson fragmentation function, normalized to a fragmentation fraction  $B_b = 0.236$ .

functions to  $c \to D_s$ , with two reasonable choices for r to account for the larger  $D_s$  mass: r = 0.15 and r = 0.09. For the  $\Lambda_c$  with the BCFY fragmentation functions, we use a delta function. While a delta function used with the BCFY meson fragmentation functions overestimates the  $\Lambda_c$  contribution to the prompt flux, it is nevertheless only ~ 2% to the total prompt muon neutrino plus antineutrino flux at  $E = 10^6$  GeV. The fragmentation fractions are normalized to the same fragmentation fractions in table 3. The coefficients used for the direct and vector contributions in eq. (A.2) for charmed meson fragmentation are listed in table 4. Our evaluation of the fluxes with the BCFY fragmentation functions shows an enhancement by a factor of ~ 1.3–1.4 to 1.4–1.5, depending on the value of r chosen.

For the *B* meson fragmentation, we use the power law form of Kniehl et al. from ref. [92], rescaled to match the fragmentation fractions of ref. [93]. The functional form of the fragmentation functions for *B* mesons is

$$D_b(z) = N z^{\alpha} (1-z)^{\beta}, \qquad (A.3)$$

with the parameters in table 5. Because the fragmentation fraction for  $b \to \Lambda_b$  is so large, we do not use a delta function for its fragmentation fraction. We use the same form of eq. (A.3), normalized to  $B_{\Lambda_b} = 0.236$ .

# **B** Decay distributions

Meson decay moments are evaluated using the decay distributions

$$\frac{dn}{dE_{\nu}} = \frac{1}{E_h} B_{h \to \nu} F_{h \to \nu}(z) \tag{B.1}$$

where  $z = E_{\nu}/E_h$ , the fraction of the hadron energy carried by the neutrino, and  $B_{h\to\nu}$  is the branching fraction. Following ref. [121], we approximate charmed meson semileptonic decay distributions as a function of neutrino energies by the three-body decay distribution. (See also ref. [88].) This fractional energy distribution comes from evaluating the pseudoscalar three-body semileptonic decay to a lighter pseudoscalar meson (e.g.,  $D \to K \ell \nu_{\ell}$ ) with form factor  $f_+(q^2) \simeq f_+$  approximately constant and  $f_-(q^2) \simeq 0$ , keeping the mass of the meson in the final state but neglecting the lepton mass. The distribution is the same for  $\ell = \mu, e$  and  $\nu_{\ell}$  and is

$$F_{h \to \nu_{\ell}} = \frac{1}{D(r)} \left[ 6(1-2r)(1-r)^2 - 4(1-r)^3 - 12r^2(1-r) + 12r^2y - 6(1-2r)y^2 + 4y^3 + 12r^2\ln\left(\frac{1-y}{r}\right) \right]$$
(B.2)

$$D(r) = 1 - 8r - 12r^2 \ln r + 8r^3 - r^4, \qquad (B.3)$$

where  $r = m^2/m_h^2$  for *m* the mass of the hadron in the final state and  $m_h$  the mass of the decaying particle. Details for the decay in rest frame are described in ref. [122], and the procedure to convert the distribution to the frame where the decaying particle has energy  $E_h$  can be found in ref. [87]. We use the same form of the decay distribution for *B* meson semileptonic decays, and to simplify the evaluation, for  $\Lambda_c$  and  $\Lambda_b$  decays to  $\nu_{\mu}$  and  $\nu_e$ .

In ref. [121], an effective hadron mass  $\sqrt{s_X^{\text{eff}}}$  is used for charm decays to account for the contributions of both pseudoscalar mesons, vector mesons and two mesons in the final state. The effective hadron masses are used for  $r = s_X^{\text{eff}}/m_h^2$ . The branching fractions and effective hadron masses used in our evaluations of the prompt fluxes are listed in table 6.

The three body decays of B mesons to  $\tau \nu_{\tau}$  require additional mass terms proportional to  $m_{\tau}^2/m_B^2$ . Using the same approximations as above except for keeping the tau mass, we find

$$F_{B \to \nu_{\tau}} = N_{\nu} \int_{z}^{1 - r_{\text{sum}}} dx \, w(1 - x, r_{\pi}, r_{\tau}) \frac{x}{(1 - x)^2} \\ \times \left[4(1 - x)(1 - x - r_{\pi}) + r_{\tau}(r_{\tau} - r_{\pi} - 3(1 - x))\right]$$
(B.4)

for the neutrino distribution, and

$$F_{B \to \tau} = N_{\tau} \int_{z+r_{\tau}/z}^{1+r_{\tau}-r_{\text{eff}}} dx \left(\frac{1+r_{\tau}-r_{\pi}-x}{1+r_{\tau}-x}\right)^{2} \times [4x(1-x)+5r_{\tau}x-2r_{\tau}^{2}]$$
(B.5)

for the tau distribution, where  $r_{\text{sum}} = (m_{\tau} + \sqrt{s_X^{\text{eff}}})^2/m_b^2$  and  $w(a, b, c) = [a^2 + b^2 + c^2 - 2(ab+bc+ac)]^{1/2}$ . Numerically, for the effective hadron masses in table 6, the normalization constants are  $N_{\nu} = N_{\tau} = 2.72 \times 10^{-2}$ . The kinematic limits for y are

$$z_{\nu}^{\min} = 0$$
  $z_{\nu}^{\max} = 1 - r_{sum}$  (B.6)

$$z_{\tau}^{\min} = \sqrt{r_{\tau}} \qquad z_{\tau}^{\max} = 0.5(x_{\max} + (x_{\max}^2 - 4r_{\tau})^{1/2})$$
 (B.7)

Process	В	$\sqrt{s_X^{\mathrm{eff}}} \ [\mathrm{GeV}]$	$c\tau$ [µm]
$D^0 \to \nu_\ell$	0.067	0.67	122.9
$D^+ \to \nu_\ell$	0.176	0.63	311.8
$D_s^+ \to \nu_\ell$	0.065	0.84	149.9
$\Lambda_c^+ \to \nu_\ell$	0.045	1.3	59.9
$B^0  ightarrow  u_\ell$	0.10	2.0	455.7
$B^0 \rightarrow \nu_{\tau}$	0.029	2.0	455.7
$B^+ \to \nu_\ell$	0.11	2.0	491.1
$B^+ \to \nu_{\tau}$	0.019	2.0	491.1
$B_s \rightarrow \nu_\ell$	0.10	2.1	452.7
$\Lambda_b  o  u_\ell$	0.11	2.4	439.5

**Table 6**. Parameters for the branching fractions and effective hadronic mass for charmed and b hadron decays, following ref. [121] for charmed meson decay distributions.



**Figure 25**. The distribution of  $\tau$  and  $\nu_{\tau}$  in *B* decays.

for  $x_{\text{max}} = 1 + r_{\tau} - r_{\text{eff}}$ . For reference, the z distributions for B decays to  $\tau \nu_{\tau}$  are shown in figure 25.

The tau neutrino flux is dominated by the  $D_s \to \tau \nu_{\tau}$  process. The two-body decay distribution, for  $z = E_{\nu_{\tau}}/E_{D_s}$ , is

$$\frac{dn_{D_s \to \nu_\tau}}{dE_\nu} = \frac{1}{E_D} \frac{B_{D_s \to \nu_\tau \tau}}{1 - r_\tau} \theta((1 - r_\tau) - z),$$
(B.8)

for  $r_{\tau} = m_{\tau}^2/m_{D_s}^2 = 0.815$  and branching ratio  $B_{D_s \to \tau \nu_{\tau}} = (5.54 \pm 0.24)\%$  [54].

Process	$B_i$	$g_0^i$	$g_1^i$	$y_{ m max}$
$\tau \to \nu_\tau \mu \nu_\mu$	0.18	$5/3 - 3y^2 + 4y^3/3$	$1/3 - 3y^2 + 8y^3/3$	1
$\tau \to \nu_\tau e \nu_e$	0.18	$5/3 - 3y^2 + 4y^3/3$	$1/3 - 3y^2 + 8y^3/3$	1
$\tau \to \nu_\tau \pi$	0.12	$(1-r_{\pi})^{-1}$	$-(2y-1+r_{\pi})/(1-r_{\pi})^2$	$(1-r_{\pi})$
$\tau \to \nu_\tau \rho$	0.26	$(1-r_{ ho})^{-1}$	$-(2y-1+r_{ ho})(1-2r_{ ho})$	$(1-r_{\rho})$
			$\times [(1 - r_{\rho})^2 (1 + 2r_{\rho})]^{-1}$	
$\tau \to \nu_\tau a_1$	0.13	$(1 - r_{a_1})^{-1}$	$-(2y-1+r_{a_1})(1-2r_{a_1})$	$(1 - r_{a_1})$
			$\times [(1 - r_{a_1})^2 (1 + 2r_{a_1})]^{-1}$	

**Table 7.** Functions  $g_0^i$  and  $g_1^i$  and the branching fractions in the tau neutrino energy distribution from relativistic  $\tau$  decays, in terms of  $y = E_{\nu}/E_{\tau}$  and  $r_i = m_i^2/m_{\tau}^2$  for purely leptonic decays and for  $i = \pi, \rho$  and  $a_1$ .

The energy distribution of the taus in  $D_s$  decays, in terms of  $z_{\tau} \equiv E_{\tau}/E_{D_s}$ , is of the same form as eq. (B.8), however, with a different range for  $z_{\tau}$  that gives the  $\tau$  a larger fraction of  $E_{D_s}$  than the  $\nu_{\tau}$  energy fraction:

$$\frac{dn_{D_s \to \tau}}{dE_\tau} = \frac{1}{E_{D_s}} \frac{B(D_s \to \nu_\tau \tau)}{1 - r_\tau} \theta(1 - z_\tau) \theta(z_\tau - r_\tau) \,. \tag{B.9}$$

The energy distribution of tau neutrinos in tau decays in terms of  $y \equiv E_{\nu}/E_{\tau}$  depends on the tau polarization. It is

$$\frac{dn_{\tau \to \nu_{\tau}}}{dE_{\nu}} = \frac{1}{E_{\tau}} \sum_{i} B_{i} \left[ g_{0}^{i}(y) - P_{\tau} g_{1}^{i}(y) \right]$$
(B.10)

for  $\tau \to i$  decays. The branching fractions  $B_i$  and functions  $g_0^i$ ,  $g_1^i$  are listed in table 7. Here, the function  $P_{\tau} = P_{\tau}(E_{D_s}, E_{\tau})$  is the polarization of the tau from the  $D_s$  decay:

$$P_{\tau} = \frac{2E_{D_s}r_{\tau}}{E_{\tau}(1-r_{\tau})} - \frac{1+r_{\tau}}{1-r_{\tau}}, \qquad (B.11)$$

in the relativistic limit. The energy distributions of  $\nu_{\tau}$  and  $\bar{\nu}_{\tau}$  are the same, a result of the opposite polarizations of the  $\tau$  and  $\bar{\tau}$  and the opposite neutrino and antineutrino helicities. We have approximated  $P_{\tau}$  for taus coming from the semi-leptonic *B* decays with the polarization of taus coming from  $D_s$  decays.

# C Flux tables

We provide here in tables 8, 9 and 10 numerical values of the distributions in the vertical direction for  $E^3\phi$  for  $\nu_{\mu} + \bar{\nu}_{\mu}$  from  $c\bar{c}$  and  $b\bar{b}$  from atmospheric production by cosmic rays. Up to  $E_{\nu} \sim 10^7 \,\text{GeV}$ , these fluxes are isotropic. The prompt fluxes for  $\ell = \nu_{\mu}$ ,  $\nu_e$  and  $\mu$  are equal. Table 11 shows the vertical  $\nu_{\tau} + \bar{\nu}_{\tau}$  flux evaluated using the nCTEQ15-14 PDFs.

$\log_{10}(E/\text{GeV})$	$E^{3}\phi$	$E^3\phi(\text{lower})$	$E^3\phi(\text{upper})$
3.00	2.22E-05	1.75E-05	2.62 E- 05
3.20	2.83E-05	2.18E-05	3.42E-05
3.40	3.58E-05	2.70E-05	4.41E-05
3.60	4.49E-05	3.33E-05	5.63E-05
3.80	5.57E-05	4.06E-05	7.07E-05
4.00	6.79E-05	4.88E-05	8.72E-05
4.20	8.09E-05	5.72E-05	1.05E-04
4.40	9.37E-05	6.53E-05	1.23E-04
4.60	1.05E-04	7.24E-05	1.40E-04
4.80	1.14E-04	7.73E-05	1.53E-04
5.00	1.18E-04	7.92E-05	1.61E-04
5.20	1.17E-04	7.76E-05	1.61E-04
5.40	1.11E-04	7.29E-05	1.53E-04
5.60	1.02E-04	6.61 E- 05	1.40E-04
5.80	9.15E-05	5.90 E- 05	1.26E-04
6.00	8.27E-05	5.30E-05	1.13E-04
6.20	7.64E-05	4.85E-05	1.04E-04
6.40	7.29E-05	4.61E-05	9.98E-05
6.60	7.30E-05	4.57E-05	1.01E-04
6.80	7.65E-05	4.75E-05	1.08E-04
7.00	8.18E-05	5.03E-05	1.18E-04
7.20	8.48E-05	5.16E-05	1.25E-04
7.40	8.43E-05	5.10E-05	1.27E-04
7.60	7.93E-05	4.78E-05	1.22E-04
7.80	6.90E-05	4.15E-05	1.07E-04
8.00	5.75E-05	3.45E-05	8.94E-05

**Table 8.** The NLO pQCD vertical flux of  $\nu_{\mu} + \bar{\nu}_{\mu}$  scaled by  $E^3$  in units of  $\text{Gev}^2/\text{cm}^2/\text{s/sr}$  using the nCTEQ15-14 PDFs with low-*x* grids, evaluated with  $m_T$  dependent renormalization and factorization scales, with the H3p cosmic ray flux.

$\log_{10}(E/{\rm GeV})$	$E^{3}\phi$	$E^3\phi(\text{lower})$	$E^3\phi(\text{upper})$
3.00	2.34E-05	1.81E-05	2.72E-05
3.20	3.00E-05	2.26E-05	3.56E-05
3.40	3.82E-05	2.79E-05	4.63E-05
3.60	4.83E-05	3.43E-05	5.95E-05
3.80	6.02E-05	4.14E-05	7.57E-05
4.00	7.38E-05	4.90E-05	9.51E-05
4.20	8.84E-05	5.76E-05	1.15E-04
4.40	1.03E-04	6.57E-05	1.36E-04
4.60	1.16E-04	7.22E-05	1.57E-04
4.80	1.27E-04	7.59E-05	1.74E-04
5.00	1.32E-04	7.54E-05	1.87E-04
5.20	1.31E-04	7.35E-05	1.87E-04
5.40	1.25E-04	6.82E-05	1.79E-04
5.60	1.14E-04	6.08E-05	1.65E-04
5.80	1.03E-04	5.27E-05	1.51E-04
6.00	9.29E-05	4.52E-05	1.40E-04
6.20	8.57E-05	4.10E-05	1.29E-04
6.40	8.16E-05	3.81E-05	1.24E-04
6.60	8.09E-05	3.65 E-05	1.26E-04
6.80	8.43E-05	3.61E-05	1.35E-04
7.00	9.06E-05	3.62E-05	1.50E-04
7.20	9.63E-05	3.74E-05	1.62E-04
7.40	9.75E-05	3.68E-05	1.67E-04
7.60	9.25E-05	3.38E-05	1.63E-04
7.80	8.09E-05	2.82E-05	1.47E-04
8.00	6.74E-05	2.19E-05	1.26E-04

**Table 9.** The NLO pQCD vertical flux of  $\nu_{\mu} + \bar{\nu}_{\mu}$  scaled by  $E^3$  in units of  $\text{Gev}^2/\text{cm}^2/\text{s/sr}$  using the CT-14 PDFs with EPS09, evaluated with  $m_T$  dependent renormalization and factorization scales, with the H3p cosmic ray flux.

	Dipole	e Model	$k_T$ facto	orization
$\log_{10}(E/\text{GeV})$	$E^3\phi(\text{lower})$	$E^3\phi(\text{upper})$	$E^3\phi(\text{lower})$	$E^3\phi(\text{upper})$
3.00	1.61E-05	6.04E-05	1.17E-05	1.35E-05
3.20	2.14E-05	8.30E-05	1.55E-05	1.84E-05
3.40	2.80E-05	1.12E-04	2.01E-05	2.46E-05
3.60	3.60E-05	1.48E-04	2.55 E-05	3.26E-05
3.80	4.54E-05	1.93E-04	3.18E-05	4.23E-05
4.00	5.63E-05	2.47E-04	3.86E-05	5.39E-05
4.20	6.82E-05	3.09E-04	4.55E-05	6.69E-05
4.40	8.04E-05	3.77E-04	5.19E-05	8.08E-05
4.60	9.19E-05	4.47E-04	5.72E-05	9.49E-05
4.80	1.01E-04	5.12E-04	6.06E-05	1.08E-04
5.00	1.06E-04	5.61E-04	6.13E-05	1.17E-04
5.20	1.07E-04	5.83E-04	5.91E-05	1.21E-04
5.40	1.02E-04	5.73E-04	5.46E-05	1.21E-04
5.60	9.25E-05	5.29E-04	4.85E-05	1.16E-04
5.80	8.17E-05	4.65E-04	4.22 E- 05	1.10E-04
6.00	7.17E-05	3.96E-04	3.66E-05	1.05E-04
6.20	6.38E-05	3.36E-04	3.21E-05	1.01E-04
6.40	5.82 E- 05	2.89E-04	2.89E-05	1.00E-04
6.60	5.47 E-05	2.52E-04	2.68E-05	1.03E-04
6.80	5.36E-05	2.22E-04	2.62 E- 05	1.12E-04
7.00	5.48E-05	2.02E-04	2.66 E-05	1.27E-04
7.20	5.68 E-05	1.91E-04	2.69 E-05	1.42 E-04
7.40	5.71E-05	1.80E-04	2.63 E-05	1.54E-04
7.60	5.52 E- 05	1.68E-04	2.48E-05	1.60E-04
7.80	5.19E-05	1.55 E-04	2.32 E-05	1.62 E-04
8.00	4.72E-05	1.39E-04	2.17 E-05	1.58E-04

JHEP11 (2016) 167

**Table 10**. The vertical flux of  $\nu_{\mu} + \bar{\nu}_{\mu}$  scaled by  $E^3$  from the dipole model using the CT-14 PDFs and  $k_T$  factorization in units of Gev<sup>2</sup>/cm<sup>2</sup>/s/sr with the H3p cosmic ray flux.

$\log_{10}(E/{\rm GeV})$	$E^{3}\phi$	$E^3\phi(\text{lower})$	$E^3\phi(\text{upper})$
3.00	2.04E-06	1.65E-06	2.35E-06
3.20	2.61E-06	2.06E-06	3.09E-06
3.40	3.31E-06	2.56E-06	4.00E-06
3.60	4.17E-06	3.17E-06	5.13E-06
3.80	5.19E-06	3.88E-06	6.47E-06
4.00	6.34E-06	4.68E-06	8.01E-06
4.20	7.61E-06	5.54E-06	9.71E-06
4.40	8.87E-06	6.38E-06	1.14E-05
4.60	1.01E-05	7.18E-06	1.32E-05
4.80	1.11E-05	7.78E-06	1.46E-05
5.00	1.17E-05	8.14E-06	1.56E-05
5.20	1.18E-05	8.14E-06	1.59E-05
5.40	1.15E-05	7.83E-06	1.55E-05
5.60	1.07E-05	7.23E-06	1.45E-05
5.80	9.71E-06	6.52E-06	1.31E-05
6.00	8.79E-06	5.84E-06	1.17E-05
6.20	8.06E-06	5.33E-06	1.06E-05
6.40	7.65E-06	5.03E-06	1.00E-05
6.60	7.55E-06	4.94E-06	9.93E-06
6.80	7.84E-06	5.08E-06	1.05E-05
7.00	8.42E-06	5.41E-06	1.14E-05
7.20	8.88E-06	5.64E-06	1.23E-05
7.40	8.96E-06	5.63E-06	1.26E-05
7.60	8.73E-06	5.43E-06	1.24E-05
7.80	8.03E-06	4.96E-06	1.15E-05
8.00	6.77E-06	4.18E-06	9.75E-06

JHEP11 (2016) 167

**Table 11**. The NLO pQCD vertical flux of  $\nu_{\tau} + \bar{\nu}_{\tau}$  scaled by  $E^3$  in units of Gev<sup>2</sup>/cm<sup>2</sup>/s/sr using the nCTEQ15-14 PDFs with low-*x* grids, evaluated with  $m_T$  dependent renormalization and factorization scales, with the H3p cosmic ray flux.

**Open Access.** This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY 4.0), which permits any use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited.

#### References

- [1] ICECUBE collaboration, M.G. Aartsen et al., First observation of PeV-energy neutrinos with IceCube, Phys. Rev. Lett. 111 (2013) 021103 [arXiv:1304.5356] [INSPIRE].
- [2] ICECUBE collaboration, M.G. Aartsen et al., Evidence for High-Energy Extraterrestrial Neutrinos at the IceCube Detector, Science 342 (2013) 1242856 [arXiv:1311.5238]
   [INSPIRE].
- [3] M. Honda, T. Kajita, K. Kasahara, S. Midorikawa and T. Sanuki, Calculation of atmospheric neutrino flux using the interaction model calibrated with atmospheric muon data, Phys. Rev. D 75 (2007) 043006 [astro-ph/0611418] [INSPIRE].
- [4] G.D. Barr, T.K. Gaisser, P. Lipari, S. Robbins and T. Stanev, A three-dimensional calculation of atmospheric neutrinos, Phys. Rev. D 70 (2004) 023006 [astro-ph/0403630]
   [INSPIRE].
- [5] T.K. Gaisser and S.R. Klein, A new contribution to the conventional atmospheric neutrino flux, Astropart. Phys. 64 (2015) 13 [arXiv:1409.4924] [INSPIRE].
- [6] P. Gondolo, G. Ingelman and M. Thunman, Charm production and high-energy atmospheric muon and neutrino fluxes, Astropart. Phys. 5 (1996) 309 [hep-ph/9505417] [INSPIRE].
- [7] L. Pasquali, M.H. Reno and I. Sarcevic, Lepton fluxes from atmospheric charm, Phys. Rev. D 59 (1999) 034020 [hep-ph/9806428] [INSPIRE].
- [8] L. Pasquali and M.H. Reno, Tau-neutrino fluxes from atmospheric charm, Phys. Rev. D 59 (1999) 093003 [hep-ph/9811268] [INSPIRE].
- [9] A.D. Martin, M.G. Ryskin and A.M. Stasto, Prompt neutrinos from atmospheric cc̄ and bb̄ production and the gluon at very small x, Acta Phys. Polon. B 34 (2003) 3273
   [hep-ph/0302140] [INSPIRE].
- [10] R. Enberg, M.H. Reno and I. Sarcevic, Prompt neutrino fluxes from atmospheric charm, Phys. Rev. D 78 (2008) 043005 [arXiv:0806.0418] [INSPIRE].
- [11] A. Bhattacharya, R. Enberg, M.H. Reno, I. Sarcevic and A. Stasto, Perturbative charm production and the prompt atmospheric neutrino flux in light of RHIC and LHC, JHEP 06 (2015) 110 [arXiv:1502.01076] [INSPIRE].
- M.V. Garzelli, S. Moch and G. Sigl, Lepton fluxes from atmospheric charm revisited, JHEP 10 (2015) 115 [arXiv:1507.01570] [INSPIRE].
- [13] R. Gauld, J. Rojo, L. Rottoli and J. Talbert, Charm production in the forward region: constraints on the small-x gluon and backgrounds for neutrino astronomy, JHEP 11 (2015) 009 [arXiv:1506.08025] [INSPIRE].
- [14] R. Gauld, J. Rojo, L. Rottoli, S. Sarkar and J. Talbert, The prompt atmospheric neutrino flux in the light of LHCb, JHEP 02 (2016) 130 [arXiv:1511.06346] [INSPIRE].
- [15] LHCb collaboration, Prompt charm production in pp collisions at  $\sqrt{s} = 7$  TeV, Nucl. Phys. **B 871** (2013) 1 [arXiv:1302.2864] [INSPIRE].

- [16] LHCb collaboration, Measurements of prompt charm production cross-sections in pp collisions at √s = 13 TeV, JHEP 03 (2016) 159 [Erratum ibid. 09 (2016) 013]
   [arXiv:1510.01707] [INSPIRE].
- [17] P. Nason, S. Dawson and R.K. Ellis, The Total Cross-Section for the Production of Heavy Quarks in Hadronic Collisions, Nucl. Phys. B 303 (1988) 607 [INSPIRE].
- [18] P. Nason, S. Dawson and R.K. Ellis, The One Particle Inclusive Differential Cross-Section for Heavy Quark Production in Hadronic Collisions, Nucl. Phys. B 327 (1989) 49 [Erratum ibid. B 335 (1990) 260] [INSPIRE].
- [19] M.L. Mangano, P. Nason and G. Ridolfi, *Heavy quark correlations in hadron collisions at next-to-leading order*, *Nucl. Phys.* B 373 (1992) 295 [INSPIRE].
- [20] M. Cacciari, M.L. Mangano and P. Nason, Gluon PDF constraints from the ratio of forward heavy-quark production at the LHC at  $\sqrt{S} = 7$  and 13 TeV, Eur. Phys. J. C 75 (2015) 610 [arXiv:1507.06197] [INSPIRE].
- [21] M. Cacciari and M. Greco, Large p<sub>T</sub> hadroproduction of heavy quarks, Nucl. Phys. B 421 (1994) 530 [hep-ph/9311260] [INSPIRE].
- [22] M. Cacciari, M. Greco and P. Nason, The  $p_T$  spectrum in heavy flavor hadroproduction, JHEP 05 (1998) 007 [hep-ph/9803400] [INSPIRE].
- [23] M. Cacciari, S. Frixione and P. Nason, The  $p_T$  spectrum in heavy flavor photoproduction, JHEP 03 (2001) 006 [hep-ph/0102134] [INSPIRE].
- [24] P. Nason, A new method for combining NLO QCD with shower Monte Carlo algorithms, JHEP 11 (2004) 040 [hep-ph/0409146] [INSPIRE].
- [25] N.N. Nikolaev and B.G. Zakharov, Color transparency and scaling properties of nuclear shadowing in deep inelastic scattering, Z. Phys. C 49 (1991) 607 [INSPIRE].
- [26] A.H. Mueller, Soft gluons in the infinite momentum wave function and the BFKL Pomeron, Nucl. Phys. B 415 (1994) 373 [INSPIRE].
- [27] N.N. Nikolaev, G. Piller and B.G. Zakharov, Inclusive heavy flavor production from nuclei, Z. Phys. A 354 (1996) 99 [hep-ph/9511384] [INSPIRE].
- [28] K.J. Golec-Biernat and M. Wusthoff, Saturation effects in deep inelastic scattering at low Q<sup>2</sup> and its implications on diffraction, Phys. Rev. D 59 (1998) 014017 [hep-ph/9807513] [INSPIRE].
- [29] J.R. Forshaw, G. Kerley and G. Shaw, Extracting the dipole cross-section from photoproduction and electroproduction total cross-section data, Phys. Rev. D 60 (1999) 074012 [hep-ph/9903341] [INSPIRE].
- [30] A.M. Stasto, K.J. Golec-Biernat and J. Kwiecinski, Geometric scaling for the total  $\gamma^* p$  cross-section in the low x region, Phys. Rev. Lett. 86 (2001) 596 [hep-ph/0007192] [INSPIRE].
- [31] J. Bartels, K.J. Golec-Biernat and H. Kowalski, A modification of the saturation model: DGLAP evolution, Phys. Rev. D 66 (2002) 014001 [hep-ph/0203258] [INSPIRE].
- [32] B.Z. Kopeliovich and A.V. Tarasov, Gluon shadowing and heavy flavor production off nuclei, Nucl. Phys. A 710 (2002) 180 [hep-ph/0205151] [INSPIRE].
- [33] J. Raufeisen and J.-C. Peng, Relating parton model and color dipole formulation of heavy quark hadroproduction, Phys. Rev. D 67 (2003) 054008 [hep-ph/0211422] [INSPIRE].

- [34] H. Kowalski and D. Teaney, An Impact parameter dipole saturation model, Phys. Rev. D 68 (2003) 114005 [hep-ph/0304189] [INSPIRE].
- [35] E. Iancu, K. Itakura and S. Munier, Saturation and BFKL dynamics in the HERA data at small x, Phys. Lett. B 590 (2004) 199 [hep-ph/0310338] [INSPIRE].
- [36] V.P. Goncalves and M.V.T. Machado, Saturation Physics in Ultra High Energy Cosmic Rays: Heavy Quark Production, JHEP 04 (2007) 028 [hep-ph/0607125] [INSPIRE].
- [37] G. Soyez, Saturation QCD predictions with heavy quarks at HERA, Phys. Lett. B 655 (2007) 32 [arXiv:0705.3672] [INSPIRE].
- [38] J.L. Albacete, N. Armesto, J.G. Milhano and C.A. Salgado, Non-linear QCD meets data: A global analysis of lepton-proton scattering with running coupling BK evolution, Phys. Rev. D 80 (2009) 034031 [arXiv:0902.1112] [INSPIRE].
- [39] J.L. Albacete, N. Armesto, J.G. Milhano, P. Quiroga-Arias and C.A. Salgado, AAMQS: A non-linear QCD analysis of new HERA data at small-x including heavy quarks, Eur. Phys. J. C 71 (2011) 1705 [arXiv:1012.4408] [INSPIRE].
- [40] V.P. Goncalves, M.S. Kugeratski, M.V.T. Machado and F.S. Navarra, Saturation physics at HERA and RHIC: An unified description, Phys. Lett. B 643 (2006) 273 [hep-ph/0608063] [INSPIRE].
- [41] J.L. Albacete, N. Armesto, J.G. Milhano, P. Quiroga-Arias and C.A. Salgado, AAMQS: A non-linear QCD analysis of new HERA data at small-x including heavy quarks, Eur. Phys. J. C 71 (2011) 1705 [arXiv:1012.4408] [INSPIRE].
- [42] C. Ewerz, A. von Manteuffel and O. Nachtmann, On the Energy Dependence of the Dipole-Proton Cross section in Deep Inelastic Scattering, JHEP 03 (2011) 062
   [arXiv:1101.0288] [INSPIRE].
- [43] Y.S. Jeong, C.S. Kim, M.V. Luu and M.H. Reno, Color dipole cross section and inelastic structure function, JHEP 11 (2014) 025 [arXiv:1403.2551] [INSPIRE].
- [44] M.M. Block, L. Durand and P. Ha, Connection of the virtual  $\gamma^* p$  cross section of ep deep inelastic scattering to real  $\gamma p$  scattering and the implications for  $\nu N$  and ep total cross sections, Phys. Rev. D 89 (2014) 094027 [arXiv:1404.4530] [INSPIRE].
- [45] S. Catani, M. Ciafaloni and F. Hautmann, *High-energy factorization and small x heavy flavor production*, *Nucl. Phys.* B 366 (1991) 135 [INSPIRE].
- [46] J.C. Collins and R.K. Ellis, *Heavy quark production in very high-energy hadron collisions*, *Nucl. Phys.* B 360 (1991) 3 [INSPIRE].
- [47] E.M. Levin, M.G. Ryskin, Yu.M. Shabelski and A.G. Shuvaev, *Heavy quark production in parton model and in QCD, Sov. J. Nucl. Phys.* 54 (1991) 867 [INSPIRE].
- [48] M.G. Ryskin, Yu.M. Shabelski and A.G. Shuvaev, Heavy quark production in parton model and in QCD, Z. Phys. C 69 (1996) 269 [hep-ph/9506338] [INSPIRE].
- [49] K. Kovarik et al., nCTEQ15 Global analysis of nuclear parton distributions with uncertainties in the CTEQ framework, Phys. Rev. D 93 (2016) 085037 [arXiv:1509.00792]
   [INSPIRE].
- [50] K.J. Eskola, H. Paukkunen and C.A. Salgado, EPS09: A New Generation of NLO and LO Nuclear Parton Distribution Functions, JHEP 04 (2009) 065 [arXiv:0902.4154] [INSPIRE].

- [51] T.K. Gaisser, Spectrum of cosmic-ray nucleons, kaon production and the atmospheric muon charge ratio, Astropart. Phys. 35 (2012) 801 [arXiv:1111.6675] [INSPIRE].
- [52] T.K. Gaisser, T. Stanev and S. Tilav, Cosmic Ray Energy Spectrum from Measurements of Air Showers, Front. Phys. (Beijing) 8 (2013) 748 [arXiv:1303.3565] [INSPIRE].
- [53] T. Stanev, T.K. Gaisser and S. Tilav, High energy cosmic rays: sources and fluxes, Nucl. Instrum. Meth. A 742 (2014) 42 [INSPIRE].
- [54] PARTICLE DATA GROUP collaboration, K.A. Olive et al., Review of Particle Physics, Chin. Phys. C 38 (2014) 090001 [INSPIRE].
- [55] P. Marquard, A.V. Smirnov, V.A. Smirnov and M. Steinhauser, Quark Mass Relations to Four-Loop Order in Perturbative QCD, Phys. Rev. Lett. 114 (2015) 142002
   [arXiv:1502.01030] [INSPIRE].
- [56] R.E. Nelson, R. Vogt and A.D. Frawley, Narrowing the uncertainty on the total charm cross section and its effect on the J/ψ cross section, Phys. Rev. C 87 (2013) 014908 [arXiv:1210.4610] [INSPIRE].
- [57] S. Dulat et al., New parton distribution functions from a global analysis of quantum chromodynamics, Phys. Rev. D 93 (2016) 033006 [arXiv:1506.07443] [INSPIRE].
- [58] F. Olness and A. Kusina, private communication.
- [59] ALICE collaboration, Measurement of charm production at central rapidity in proton-proton collisions at  $\sqrt{s} = 2.76$  TeV, JHEP **07** (2012) 191 [arXiv:1205.4007] [INSPIRE].
- [60] ATLAS collaboration, Measurement of D<sup>\*±</sup>, D<sup>±</sup> and D<sup>±</sup><sub>s</sub> meson production cross sections in pp collisions at √s = 7 TeV with the ATLAS detector, Nucl. Phys. B 907 (2016) 717 [arXiv:1512.02913] [INSPIRE].
- [61] PHENIX collaboration, A. Adare et al., Measurement of high- $p_T$  single electrons from heavy-flavor decays in p+p collisions at  $\sqrt{s} = 200 \text{ GeV}$ , Phys. Rev. Lett. 97 (2006) 252002 [hep-ex/0609010] [INSPIRE].
- [62] STAR collaboration, L. Adamczyk et al., Measurements of  $D^0$  and  $D^*$  Production in p + pCollisions at  $\sqrt{s} = 200 \text{ GeV}$ , Phys. Rev. **D** 86 (2012) 072013 [arXiv:1204.4244] [INSPIRE].
- [63] HERA-B collaboration, I. Abt et al., Measurement of D<sup>0</sup>, D<sup>+</sup>, D<sup>+</sup><sub>s</sub> and D<sup>\*+</sup> Production in Fixed Target 920-GeV Proton-Nucleus Collisions, Eur. Phys. J. C 52 (2007) 531
   [arXiv:0708.1443] [INSPIRE].
- [64] PHENIX collaboration, A. Adare et al., Cross section for bb production via dielectrons in d+Au collisions at  $\sqrt{s_{_{NN}}} = 200 \ GeV$ , Phys. Rev. C 91 (2015) 014907 [arXiv:1405.4004] [INSPIRE].
- [65] ALICE collaboration, Beauty production in pp collisions at  $\sqrt{s} = 2.76$  TeV measured via semi-electronic decays, Phys. Lett. B 738 (2014) 97 [arXiv:1405.4144] [INSPIRE].
- [66] ALICE collaboration, Measurement of prompt  $J/\psi$  and beauty hadron production cross sections at mid-rapidity in pp collisions at  $\sqrt{s} = 7$  TeV, JHEP **11** (2012) 065 [arXiv:1205.5880] [INSPIRE].
- [67] UA1 collaboration, C. Albajar et al., Beauty production at the CERN pp̄ collider, Phys. Lett. B 256 (1991) 121 [Erratum ibid. B 262 (1991) 497] [INSPIRE].

- [68] LHCb collaboration, Measurement of  $J/\psi$  production in pp collisions at  $\sqrt{s} = 7$  TeV, Eur. Phys. J. C 71 (2011) 1645 [arXiv:1103.0423] [INSPIRE].
- [69] C. Lourenco and H.K. Wohri, Heavy flavour hadro-production from fixed-target to collider energies, Phys. Rept. 433 (2006) 127 [hep-ph/0609101] [INSPIRE].
- [70] I. Balitsky, Operator expansion for high-energy scattering, Nucl. Phys. B 463 (1996) 99
   [hep-ph/9509348] [INSPIRE].
- [71] Y.V. Kovchegov, Small x F(2) structure function of a nucleus including multiple Pomeron exchanges, Phys. Rev. D 60 (1999) 034008 [hep-ph/9901281] [INSPIRE].
- [72] C.A. Argüelles, F. Halzen, L. Wille, M. Kroll and M.H. Reno, *High-energy behavior of photon, neutrino and proton cross sections*, *Phys. Rev.* D 92 (2015) 074040
   [arXiv:1504.06639] [INSPIRE].
- [73] N. Armesto, C.A. Salgado and U.A. Wiedemann, Relating high-energy lepton-hadron, proton-nucleus and nucleus-nucleus collisions through geometric scaling, Phys. Rev. Lett. 94 (2005) 022002 [hep-ph/0407018] [INSPIRE].
- [74] H. De Vries, C.W. De Jager and C. De Vries, Nuclear charge and magnetization density distribution parameters from elastic electron scattering, Atom. Data Nucl. Data Tabl. 36 (1987) 495 [INSPIRE].
- [75] N. Armesto, A Simple model for nuclear structure functions at small x in the dipole picture, Eur. Phys. J. C 26 (2002) 35 [hep-ph/0206017] [INSPIRE].
- [76] V.P. Goncalves and M.V.T. Machado, Nuclear heavy quark photoproduction in a saturation model, Eur. Phys. J. C 30 (2003) 387 [hep-ph/0305045] [INSPIRE].
- [77] L.N. Lipatov, Reggeization of the Vector Meson and the Vacuum Singularity in Nonabelian Gauge Theories, Sov. J. Nucl. Phys. 23 (1976) 338 [INSPIRE].
- [78] E.A. Kuraev, L.N. Lipatov and V.S. Fadin, Multi-Reggeon Processes in the Yang-Mills Theory, Sov. Phys. JETP 44 (1976) 443 [INSPIRE].
- [79] E.A. Kuraev, L.N. Lipatov and V.S. Fadin, The Pomeranchuk Singularity in Nonabelian Gauge Theories, Sov. Phys. JETP 45 (1977) 199 [INSPIRE].
- [80] I.I. Balitsky and L.N. Lipatov, *The Pomeranchuk Singularity in Quantum Chromodynamics, Sov. J. Nucl. Phys.* 28 (1978) 822 [INSPIRE].
- [81] T. Altinoluk, N. Armesto, G. Beuf, A. Kovner and M. Lublinsky, *Heavy quarks in proton-nucleus collisions* the hybrid formalism, Phys. Rev. D 93 (2016) 054049 [arXiv:1511.09415] [INSPIRE].
- [82] J. Kwiecinski, A.D. Martin and A.M. Stasto, A unified BFKL and GLAP description of F2 data, Phys. Rev. D 56 (1997) 3991 [hep-ph/9703445] [INSPIRE].
- [83] K. Kutak and J. Kwiecinski, Screening effects in the ultrahigh-energy neutrino interactions, Eur. Phys. J. C 29 (2003) 521 [hep-ph/0303209] [INSPIRE].
- [84] K. Kutak and A.M. Stasto, Unintegrated gluon distribution from modified BK equation, Eur. Phys. J. C 41 (2005) 343 [hep-ph/0408117] [INSPIRE].
- [85] K. Kutak and S. Sapeta, Gluon saturation in dijet production in p-Pb collisions at Large Hadron Collider, Phys. Rev. D 86 (2012) 094043 [arXiv:1205.5035] [INSPIRE].
- [86] R. Gauld, Forward D predictions for pPb collisions and sensitivity to cold nuclear matter effects, Phys. Rev. D 93 (2016) 014001 [arXiv:1508.07629] [INSPIRE].

- [87] T.K. Gaisser, Cosmic rays and particle physics. Cambridge University Press (1990).
- [88] P. Lipari, Lepton spectra in the earth's atmosphere, Astropart. Phys. 1 (1993) 195 [INSPIRE].
- [89] T.K. Gaisser, Spectrum of cosmic-ray nucleons, kaon production and the atmospheric muon charge ratio, Astropart. Phys. 35 (2012) 801 [arXiv:1111.6675] [INSPIRE].
- [90] B.A. Kniehl and G. Kramer, Charmed-hadron fragmentation functions from CERN LEP1 revisited, Phys. Rev. D 74 (2006) 037502 [hep-ph/0607306] [INSPIRE].
- [91] M. Lisovyi, A. Verbytskyi and O. Zenaiev, Combined analysis of charm-quark fragmentation-fraction measurements, Eur. Phys. J. C 76 (2016) 397 [arXiv:1509.01061]
   [INSPIRE].
- [92] B.A. Kniehl, G. Kramer, I. Schienbein and H. Spiesberger, *Finite-mass effects on inclusive B meson hadroproduction*, *Phys. Rev.* D 77 (2008) 014011 [arXiv:0705.4392] [INSPIRE].
- [93] LHCb collaboration, Measurement of b-hadron production fractions in 7 TeV pp collisions, Phys. Rev. D 85 (2012) 032008 [arXiv:1111.2357] [INSPIRE].
- [94] E. Braaten, K.-m. Cheung, S. Fleming and T.C. Yuan, Perturbative QCD fragmentation functions as a model for heavy quark fragmentation, Phys. Rev. D 51 (1995) 4819
   [hep-ph/9409316] [INSPIRE].
- [95] M. Cacciari and P. Nason, Charm cross-sections for the Tevatron Run II, JHEP 09 (2003) 006 [hep-ph/0306212] [INSPIRE].
- [96] T. Sjöstrand, S. Mrenna and P.Z. Skands, PYTHIA 6.4 Physics and Manual, JHEP 05 (2006) 026 [hep-ph/0603175] [INSPIRE].
- [97] E. Norrbin and T. Sjöstrand, Production mechanisms of charm hadrons in the string model, Phys. Lett. B 442 (1998) 407 [hep-ph/9809266] [INSPIRE].
- [98] E. Norrbin and T. Sjöstrand, Production and hadronization of heavy quarks, Eur. Phys. J. C 17 (2000) 137 [hep-ph/0005110] [INSPIRE].
- [99] S. Frixione, P. Nason and C. Oleari, Matching NLO QCD computations with Parton Shower simulations: the POWHEG method, JHEP 11 (2007) 070 [arXiv:0709.2092] [INSPIRE].
- [100] S. Alioli, P. Nason, C. Oleari and E. Re, A general framework for implementing NLO calculations in shower Monte Carlo programs: the POWHEG BOX, JHEP 06 (2010) 043 [arXiv:1002.2581] [INSPIRE].
- [101] S. Frixione, P. Nason and G. Ridolfi, A positive-weight next-to-leading-order Monte Carlo for heavy flavour hadroproduction, JHEP 09 (2007) 126 [arXiv:0707.3088] [INSPIRE].
- [102] T. Pierog and K. Werner, EPOS Model and Ultra High Energy Cosmic Rays, Nucl. Phys. Proc. Suppl. 196 (2009) 102 [arXiv:0905.1198] [INSPIRE].
- [103] S. Iyer, M.H. Reno and I. Sarcevic, Searching for  $\nu_{\mu} \rightarrow \nu_{\tau}$  oscillations with extragalactic neutrinos, Phys. Rev. D 61 (2000) 053003 [hep-ph/9909393] [INSPIRE].
- [104] F. Becattini and S. Bottai, Extreme energy neutrino(tau) propagation through the Earth, Astropart. Phys. 15 (2001) 323 [astro-ph/0003179] [INSPIRE].
- [105] A. Bulmahn and M.H. Reno, Secondary atmospheric tau neutrino production, Phys. Rev. D 82 (2010) 057302 [arXiv:1007.4989] [INSPIRE].
- [106] ICECUBE collaboration, L. Rädel et al., A measurement of the diffuse astrophysical muon neutrino flux using multiple years of IceCube data, PoS(ICRC2015)1079.

- [107] S.J. Brodsky, P. Hoyer, C. Peterson and N. Sakai, The Intrinsic Charm of the Proton, Phys. Lett. B 93 (1980) 451 [INSPIRE].
- [108] T.J. Hobbs, J.T. Londergan and W. Melnitchouk, Phenomenology of nonperturbative charm in the nucleon, Phys. Rev. D 89 (2014) 074008 [arXiv:1311.1578] [INSPIRE].
- [109] S. Dulat et al., Intrinsic Charm Parton Distribution Functions from CTEQ-TEA Global Analysis, Phys. Rev. D 89 (2014) 073004 [arXiv:1309.0025] [INSPIRE].
- [110] NNPDF collaboration, R.D. Ball et al., A Determination of the Charm Content of the Proton, arXiv:1605.06515 [INSPIRE].
- [111] T. Boettcher, P. Ilten and M. Williams, Direct probe of the intrinsic charm content of the proton, Phys. Rev. D 93 (2016) 074008 [arXiv:1512.06666] [INSPIRE].
- [112] F. Halzen, Y.S. Jeong and C.S. Kim, Charge Asymmetry of Weak Boson Production at the LHC and the Charm Content of the Proton, Phys. Rev. D 88 (2013) 073013 [arXiv:1304.0322] [INSPIRE].
- [113] F. Halzen and L. Wille, Upper Limit on Forward Charm Contribution to Atmospheric Neutrino Flux, arXiv:1601.03044 [INSPIRE].
- [114] F. Halzen and L. Wille, Charm contribution to the atmospheric neutrino flux, Phys. Rev. D 94 (2016) 014014 [arXiv:1605.01409] [INSPIRE].
- [115] R. Laha and S.J. Brodsky, IC at IC: IceCube can constrain the intrinsic charm of the proton, arXiv:1607.08240 [INSPIRE].
- [116] LHCf collaboration, O. Adriani et al., Measurements of longitudinal and transverse momentum distributions for neutral pions in the forward-rapidity region with the LHCf detector, Phys. Rev. D 94 (2016) 032007 [arXiv:1507.08764] [INSPIRE].
- [117] TOTEM collaboration, G. Antchev et al., Measurement of the forward charged particle pseudorapidity density in pp collisions at  $\sqrt{s} = 8$  TeV using a displaced interaction point, Eur. Phys. J. C 75 (2015) 126 [arXiv:1411.4963] [INSPIRE].
- [118] ICECUBE collaboration, M.G. Aartsen et al., Observation and Characterization of a Cosmic Muon Neutrino Flux from the Northern Hemisphere using six years of IceCube data, arXiv:1607.08006 [INSPIRE].
- [119] ALICE collaboration, Measurement of  $D_s^+$  production and nuclear modification factor in Pb-Pb collisions at  $\sqrt{s_{NN}} = 2.76 \text{ TeV}$ , JHEP 03 (2016) 082 [arXiv:1509.07287] [INSPIRE].
- [120] LHCb collaboration, Measurement of B meson production cross-sections in proton-proton collisions at  $\sqrt{s} = 7 \text{ TeV}$ , JHEP 08 (2013) 117 [arXiv:1306.3663] [INSPIRE].
- [121] E.V. Bugaev, A. Misaki, V.A. Naumov, T.S. Sinegovskaya, S.I. Sinegovsky and N. Takahashi, Atmospheric muon flux at sea level, underground and underwater, Phys. Rev. D 58 (1998) 054001 [hep-ph/9803488] [INSPIRE].
- [122] H. Pietschmann, Weak Interactions Formulae, Results and Derivations, Springer-Verlag, (1984).